### Applied Energy 104 (2013) 683-710

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

**Applied Energy** 

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/apenergy

# A review on novel processes of biodiesel production from waste cooking oil

## Amin Talebian-Kiakalaieh<sup>a</sup>, Nor Aishah Saidina Amin<sup>a,\*</sup>, Hossein Mazaheri<sup>a,b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Chemical Reaction Engineering Group (CREG), Faculty of Chemical Engineering, Universiti Teknologi Malaysia (UTM), 81310 Skudai, Johor, Malaysia <sup>b</sup> Department of Chemical Engineering, Faculty Engineering, Islamic Azad University, Arak Branch, Arak, Iran

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 March 2012 Received in revised form 1 November 2012 Accepted 26 November 2012 Available online 28 December 2012

Keywords: Waste cooking oil Biodiesel Heterogeneous catalyst Homogeneous catalyst Reactive distillation Transesterification

#### ABSTRACT

Fossil fuel depletion, environmental concerns, and steep hikes in the price of fossil fuels are driving scientists to search for alternative fuels. The characteristics of biodiesel have made the pursuit of high quality biodiesel production attractive. Utilization of waste cooking oil is a key component in reducing biodiesel production costs up to 60–90%. Researchers have used various types of homogeneous and heterogeneous catalyzed transesterification reaction for biodiesel production. Meanwhile, the effect of novel processes such as membrane reactor, reactive distillation column, reactive absorption, ultrasonic and microwave irradiation significantly influenced the final conversion, yield and in particular, the quality of product. This article attempts to cover all possible techniques in production of biodiesel from waste cooking oil.

© 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	684
2.	Biodiesel	684
	2.1. Chemical composition	685
	2.2. The properties of vegetable oils as fuels	. 685
	2.3. Transesterification reaction	. 686
	2.4. Biodiesel production from waste cooking oil	686
3.	Homogeneous catalytic transesterification	687
	3.1. Alkali catalyzed	687
	3.1.1. The liquid amine	688
	3.1.2. Pretreatment of WCO before alkali catalyzed transesterification	688
	3.2. Acid catalyzed transesterification reaction	688
	3.3. Acid and alkali catalyzed two-step transesterification	689
	3.4. The reactive extraction process	690
4.	Heterogeneous catalyzed transesterification	690
	4.1. Solid catalyst	690
	4.2. Solid acid catalysts	690
	4.3. Solid base catalyst	691
	4.4. Heterogeneous solid catalysts potential for industrial application	693
	4.5. Enzymatic catalyzed transesterification.	694
	4.5.1. Immobilization of lipase	694
	4.6. The non-enzymatic heterogeneous catalyst	695
	4.7. Non-catalytic production	695
5.	Effect of different processes in biodiesel production	696
	5.1. Reactive distillation method	696
	5.2. Dual reactive distillation	697

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +60 7 553 5579; fax: +60 7 558 8166.

E-mail addresses: talebian\_amin@yahoo.com (A. Talebian-Kiakalaieh), noraishah@cheme.utm.my (N.A.S. Amin).





CrossMark

<sup>0306-2619/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.11.061

5.3.	Reaction absorption.	697
5.4.	Continuous flow biodiesel production	698
5.5.	Membrane reactor	698
5.6.	Ultrasonic	701
5.7.	Microwave	701
Conclu	ısions	703
Ackno	wledgements	704
Refere	nces	704
	.3. .4. .5. .6. .7. Conclu Ackno Refere	.3. Reaction absorption.         .4. Continuous flow biodiesel production         .5. Membrane reactor.         .6. Ultrasonic.         .7. Microwave.         Conclusions.         Acknowledgements         References

#### 1. Introduction

Energy consumption is inevitable for human existence. There are various reasons for the search of an alternative fuel that is technically feasible, environmentally acceptable, economically competitive, and readily available. The first foremost reason is the increasing demand for fossil fuels in all sectors of human life, be it transportation, power generation, industrial processes, and residential consumption [1]. This increasing demand gives rise to environmental concerns such as larger CO<sub>2</sub> and greenhouse gas emissions, and also global warming. World energy consumption doubled between 1971 and 2001 and the world energy demand will increase 53% by the year 2030. For instance, petroleum consumption will rise from 84.4 to 116 million barrels per day in USA until year 2030 [2,3]. The second reason is that fossil-fuel resources are non-renewable, and they will be exhausted in the near future [4]. Some reports claimed that oil and gas reserves will be depleted in 41 and 63 years, respectively, if the consumption pace remains constant [5]. The last reason is the price instability of fuels such as crude oil, which is a serious threat for countries with limited resources [6]. Several alternatives such as wind, solar, hydro, nuclear, biofuel, and biodiesel have been suggested but all of them are still in the research and development stage.

The inventor of biodiesel engines, Rudolf Christian Karl Diesel (1858–1913) demonstrated the use of vegetable oils as a substitute for diesel fuel in the 19th century [7]. He believed the utilization of biomass fuel will become a reality as future versions of his engine are designed and developed. Biodiesel is a mono alkyl ester of fatty acids produced from vegetable oils or animal fats [8,9]. In other words, when a vegetable oil or animal fat chemically reacts with an alcohol, it can produce Fatty Acid Methyl Ester (FAME), a vegetable oil which can be used in diesel engines after some adjustments and modifications. Vegetable oils contain saturated hydrocarbons (triglycerides) which consist of glycerol and esters of fatty acids. In addition, fatty acids have different numbers of bonds and carbon chain lengths. There are different kinds of modification methods, such as dilution, thermal cracking (pyrolysis), transesterification, and microemulsification. However, transesterification is the best method for producing higher quality biodiesel [10-14].

All fatty acid sources such as animal fats or plant lipids (more than 300 types of them) can be used in biodiesel production [15–19]. The utilization of these types of sources has given rise to certain concerns as some of them are important food chain materials [20,21]. In other words, the production of biofuels from human nutrition sources can cause a food crisis. Therefore, the majority of researchers have focused on non-edible oils or waste cooking oils as feedstock for biodiesel production such as algae oil [22–24], microalgae [25–29], jatropha oil [30], and grease oil [31]. Table 1 shows various feedstocks in biodiesel production [32]. The most important obstacle in biodiesel industrialization and commercialization is production costs [33,34]. Therefore, the usage of waste edible oils can reduce biodiesel production costs by 60–90% [35–39]. In an effort to produce higher quality biodiesel

at lower costs, researchers are using various novel processes to decrease the reaction time, amount of alcohol, catalyst, and particularly reaction temperature.

In this paper, an attempt has been made to review all possible methods in the production of biodiesel from waste cooking oil with emphasis on some processes in separation, purification and analysis of product quality. The downstream of biodiesel, performance of engine fuels and characterization of biodiesel exhaust have been reviewed in previous studies [40,41].

## 2. Biodiesel

The utilization of biofuels or vegetable oil in internal combustion engines was reported during 1920–1930 and Second World War from all around the world. Germany, Argentina, Japan, Belgium, Italy, France, the United Kingdom, Portugal, and China have tested and used different types of biofuels. However, petroleum fuel production costs were cheaper than alternative fuels causing to slow down production of biofuel infrastructures. Recent concerns of environmental degradation and fossil fuel depletion have again jumpstarted the production of biodiesel, because it seems to be the most feasible solution for this situation [29].

The investigation of vegetable oils as fuel started in 1978 and 1981 in the United States and South Africa, respectively. In 1982, methyl ester was produced in Germany and Austria from rapeseed oil, and a small pilot plant was built in Austria at 1985. Commercial production of methyl ester first began in Europe in 1990. More than 2.7 million tones biodiesel was produced in Europe in 2003, but their target is around 20% total diesel market in 2020. In addition, the USA future plan for biodiesel production is around 3.3 million tones in 2016 [42].

Biodiesel has significant influences in reducing engine emissions such as unburned hydrocarbons (68%), particulars (40%), carbon monoxide (44%), sulfur oxide (100%), and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (80–90%) [43,44]. Meanwhile, it is safer to

 Table 1

 Different feedstocks for production of biodiesel.

Conventional feedst	ock	Non-conventional feedstock		
Mahua	Soybean	Lard		
Nile tilapia	Rapeseed	Tallow		
Palm	Canola	Poultry fat		
Poultry	Babassu	Fish oil		
Tobacco seed	Brassica carinata	Bacteria		
Rubber plant	Brassica napus	Algae		
Rice bran	Copra	Fungi		
Sesame	Groundnut	Micro-algae		
Sunflower	Cynara cardunculus	Tarpenes		
Barley	Cottonseed	Latexes		
Coconut	Pumpkin	Pongamina pinnata		
Corn	Jojoba oil	Palanga		
Used cooking oil	Camelina	Jatropha curcas		
Linseed	Peanut	Sea mango		
Mustard	Olive	Okra		

# Table 2The structure of a typical triglyceride molecule.

Triglycerides	Diglycerides	Monoglycerides
CH <sub>3</sub> (CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>7</sub> CH=CHCH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>7</sub> C(O)O-CH <sub>2</sub>	CH <sub>3</sub> (CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>7</sub> CH=CH(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>7</sub> C(O)O-CH <sub>2</sub>	HO—CH <sub>2</sub>
$CH_3(CH_2)_7CH = CH(CH_2)_7C(0)0 - CH$	HO—CH	НО-СН
CH <sub>3</sub> (CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>14</sub> C(O)O—CH <sub>2</sub>	CH <sub>3</sub> (CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>14</sub> C(0)0–CH <sub>2</sub>	CH <sub>3</sub> (CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>14</sub> C(O)O–CH <sub>2</sub>

#### Table 3

The chemical structure of fatty acids.

Fatty acid (trivial name/rational name)	Structure	Common acronym	Methyl ester (trivial name/rational name)
Palmitic acid/Hexadecanoic acid	$R-(CH_2)_{14}-CH_3$	C16:0	Methyl palmitate/Methyl hexadecanoate
Stearic acid/Octadecanoic acid	$R-(CH_2)_{16}-CH_3$	C18:0	Methyl stearate/Methyl octadecanoate
Oleic acid/9(Z)-octadecenoic acid	R-(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>7</sub> —CH=CH-(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>7</sub> —CH <sub>3</sub>	C18:1	Methyl oleate/Methyl 9(Z)-octadecenoate
Linoleic acid/9(Z),12(Z)-octadecadienoic acid	R-	C18:2	Methyl linoleate/Methyl 9(Z),12(Z)-
	(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>7</sub> CH=CHCH <sub>2</sub> CH=CH(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>4</sub> CH <sub>3</sub>		octadecadienoate
Linolenic acid/ 9(Z),12(Z),15(Z)octadecatrienoic acid	R-(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>7</sub> –(CH=CH–CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> –CH <sub>3</sub>	C18:3	Methyl linolenate/Methyl 9(Z),12(Z),15(Z)- octadecadienoate

store and handle, and it can be easily produced in domestic quantities.

rides. Table 3 indicates the chemical structure of fatty acids in different oils [45].

## 2.1. Chemical composition

Natural oils and fats are the esters of glycerol and fatty acids. They are called glycerides or triglycerides. There are two kinds of fatty acids: saturated fatty acids are polarized and contain a single carbon bond, while unsaturated fatty acids include one or more carbon-to-carbon doubled bonds and are polarized. Examples of common fatty acids are stearic, oleic, linolenic and palmitic. Table 2 shows the chemical structure of triglycerides that includes triglycerides (98%), monoglycerides and diglyce-

## 2.2. The properties of vegetable oils as fuels

Vegetable oils are extracted from plants and their combustion yields completely recycle carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$ . The listing of vegetable oils along with their properties in Table 4 indicates the viscosity of vegetable oils is around 11–17 times more than diesel fuel [46]. The volumetric heating values are around 39–40 MJ/kg but for diesel fuels, it is 45 MJ/kg. The flash point for vegetable oils is very high, more than 200 °C.

#### Table 4

The properties of different vegetable oils.

Type of Oil	Species	Fatty acid composition (wt%)	Viscosity (at 40 °C)	Density (g/cm <sup>3</sup> )	Flash point (°C)	Heating value (MJ/kg)	Acid value (mg KOH/g)	Cetane number (C)	Cloud point (°C)	Pour point (°C)
Edible oil	Soybean	C16:0, C18:1, C18:2	32.9	0.91	254	39.6	0.2	37.9	-3.9	-12.2
	Rapeseed	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2	35.1	0.91	246	39.7	2.92	37.6	-3.9	-31.7
	Sunflower	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2	32.6	0.92	274	39.6	-	41.3	18.3	-6.7
	Palm	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2	39.6	0.92	267	-	0.1	42.0	31.0	-
	Peanut	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2, C20:0, C22:0	22.72	0.90	271	39.8	3	41.8	12.8	-6.7
	Corn	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2, C18:3	34.9	0.91	277	39.5	-	37.6	-1.1	-40.0
	Camelina	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2,	-	0.91	-	42.2	0.76	-	-	-
		C18:3, C20:0, C20:1, C20:3								
	Canola	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2, C18:3	38.2				0.4	-	-	-
	Cotton	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2	18.2	0.91	234	39.5		41.8	1.7	-15.0
	Pumpkin	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2	35.6	0.92	>230	39	0.55	-	-	-
Non-edible oil	Jatropha curcas	C16:0, C16:1, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2	29.4	0.92	225	38.5	28	_	_	-
	Pongamina pinnata	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2, C18:3	27.8	0.91	205	34	5.06	-	-	-
	Sea mango	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2	29.6	0.92	-	40.86	0.24	-	-	-
	Palanga	C16:0, C18:0, C18:1, C18:2	72.0	0.90	221	39.25	44	-	-	-
	Tallow	C14:0, C16:0, C16:1, C17:0,	_	0.92	-	40.05	-	-	-	-
		C18:0, C18:1, C18:2								
	Nile tilapia	C16:0, C18:1, C20:5, C22:6,	32.1	0.91	-	-	2.81	-	-	-
		other acids								
	Poultry	C16:0, C16:1, C18:0, C18:1,	-	0.90	-	39.4	-	-	-	-
		C18:2, C18:3								
Others	WCO	Depends on fresh cooking oil	44.7	0.90	-	-	2.5	-	-	-
-	Diesel	-	3.06	0.855	76	43.8	-	50	-	-16

#### Table 5

The physical and chemical properties of vegetable oil methyl ester.

Feedstock	V <sup>a</sup>	FP <sup>b</sup>	Dc	HHV <sup>d</sup>	IV <sup>e</sup>	CN <sup>f</sup>	AV <sup>g</sup>	SN <sup>h</sup>
Soybean	4.08	441	0.885	41.28	138.7	52	0.15	201
Rapeseed	4.3-5.83	453	0.88-0.888	41.55	-	49-50	0.25-0.45	-
Sunflower	4.9	439	0.88	41.33	142.7	49	0.24	200
Palm	4.42	434	0.86-0.9	41.24	60.07	62	0.08	207
Peanut	4.42	443	0.883	41.32	67.45	54	-	200
Corn	3.39	427	0.88-0.89	41.14	120.3	58-59	-	202
Camelina	6.12-7	-	0.882-0.888	-	152-157	-	0.08-0.52	-
Canola	3.53	-	0.88-0.9	-	103.8	56	-	182
Cotton	4.07	455	0.875	41.18	104.7	54	0.16	204
Pumpkin	4.41	-	0.8837	-	115	-	0.48	202
Jatropha curcas	4.78	-	0.8636	-	108.4	61-63	0.496	202
Pongamina pinnata	4.8	-	0.883	-	-	60-61	0.62	-
Palanga	3.99	-	0.869	-	-	-	-	-
Tallow	-	-	0.856	-	126	59	0.65	244.5
Nile tilapia	-	-	-	-	88.1	51	1.4	-
Poultry	-	-	0.867	-	130	61	0.25	251.23
WCO	4–5.18	148	0.878-0.887	39.26-39.48	-	48	0.15	-

<sup>a</sup> V = Viscosity (at 40 °C).

<sup>b</sup> FP = Flash Point (°C).

<sup>c</sup> D = Density  $(g/cm^3)$ .

<sup>d</sup> HHV = High Heat Value (MJ/Kg).

IV = Iodine Value

CN = Cetane Number.

g AV = Acid Value (mgKOH/g).

<sup>h</sup> SN = Saponification Number.

It has been found that the utilization of vegetable oils in conventional diesel engines led to problems that are related to the type and grade of fuel as well as climate conditions. Some common problems are carbon deposits, plugging of the fuel lines, gelling of lubricating oils, fouled piston heads and ring sticking [47-49]. Singh and Singh [50] and Ayhan [51] identified the properties of some vegetable oil methyl esters. Table 5 tabulates the physical and chemical properties of vegetable oil methyl ester [51]. Vegetable oils have higher pour and cloud point compared to diesel fuels. Thus, it is not advisable to use them in winter. [52,53]. Furthermore, the cetane number of vegetable oils is very high hence reducing the ignition delay [54]. In addition, they have a high iodine value that increases its oxidation rate. Therefore, long time storage is not recommended for these types of fuels [55].

#### 2.3. Transesterification reaction

Transesterification of vegetable oils with alcohol is the best method for biodiesel production. There are two transesterification methods, which are: (a) with catalyst and (b) without catalyst. The utilization of different types of catalysts improves the rate and yield of biodiesel. The transesterification reaction is reversible and excess alcohol shifts the equilibrium to the product side [56,57]. Fig. 1 shows the general equation of transesterification reaction.

Many different alcohols can be used in this reaction, including, methanol, ethanol, propanol, and butanol. The methanol application is more feasible because of its low-cost and physical as well as chemical advantages, such as being polar and having the shortest alcohol chain [56]. According to Fig. 2, R1, R2, and R3 are long



chains of hydrocarbons and carbon atoms called fatty acid chains. The reaction is based on one mole of triglyceride reacting with three moles of methanol to produce three moles methyl ester (biodiesel) and one mole glycerol.

Generally the transesterification reaction involves some critical parameters which significantly influence the final conversion and yield. The most important variables are: reaction temperature, free fatty acid content in the oil, water content in the oil, type of catalyst, amount of catalyst, reaction time, molar ratio of alcohol to oil, type or chemical stream of alcohol, use of co-solvent and mixing intensity.

## 2.4. Biodiesel production from waste cooking oil

People around the world use edible oils for cooking, after which the oil is discarded. The amount of heat and water increases the hydrolysis of triglycerides and the percent of free fatty acid (FFA) in the oil [58]. The water and FFA content have a negative influence on the transesterification reaction [59,60]. The WCO price is two to three times cheaper than vegetable oils, and it also reduces the cost of waste product removal and treatment [61]. Meanwhile, it can significantly decrease the amount of farmland, which is necessary for biodiesel producing corps. The WCO has been categorized by the FFA content to two groups: (a) yellow grease (<15%) and (b) brown grease (>15%) [46]. The prices of these types of WCO



(Mixture of fatty esters)

(Glycerol)

Fig. 2. Methanolysis of triglyceride.

(Methanol)

(Triglycerides)

are between (\$ 0.04 to \$ 0.09) and (\$ 0.004 to \$ 0.014) for yellow grease and brown grease, respectively [62].

Some negative effects of WCO utilization for biodiesel production include separation of fatty acid esters and glycerol and formation of dimeric and polymeric acids and glycerides. Consequently the viscosity of cooking oil increases, while the saponification process decreases the molecular mass and iodine values [58,63,64]. Meanwhile, soap formation partially consumes the catalyst and reduces the final yield. There is no systematic method for collecting waste cooking oils from households yet. The amount of WCO dumped through drains leads to water pollution. More than 80% of WCO is produced in households and controlling its disposal involves huge investments such as waste oil disposal and high water treatment cost [65,66]. There are various methods for biodiesel production from waste cooking oil which can be divided into three main groups: (a) homogeneous, (b) heterogonous and (c) non-catalytic transesterification.

#### 3. Homogeneous catalytic transesterification

#### 3.1. Alkali catalyzed

Many researchers have used alkali catalysts (NaOH, KOH, CH<sub>3</sub>-ONa) for production of biodiesel as these catalysts are cheap and readily available [67,68]. However, the process has some limitations such as high energy consumption which in turn causes a dramatic increase in capital equipment costs and safety issues. In addition, this process is highly sensitive to water and free fatty acid (FFA) content in the feedstock. High water content can change the reaction to saponification, which causes reductions of ester yield, difficult separation of glycerol from methyl ester, increment in viscosity, and the formation of emulsion [70,71] all of which create many problems in downstream purification and methyl ester recovery. There are various reports about the effect of oil FFA content in reaction with alkali catalysts as shown in Table 6.

Arquiza et al. [77] investigated biodiesel production from used coconut oil with methanol and NaOH as catalyst. They also evaluated the effects of some operating parameters such as the reaction temperature (30–65 °C), the molar ratio of methanol to oil (3:1, 6:1, and 9:1), and the catalyst weight (0.1%, 0.5% and 1%). The results was 94% yield at optimum condition of 60-65 °C reaction temperature, 0.5% catalyst weight and 6:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil. There are various reports of biodiesel production from used cooking oil in the presence of NaOH as catalyst [78-80]. In addition, the transesterification of waste cooking oil with ethanol and NaOH as catalyst was evaluated [81]. The result was 94.5% yield. The optimum condition of the reaction temperature was 60 °C, catalyst weight was 0.08%, and the reaction time was 20 min. Georgogianni et al. [82] investigated waste soybean oil and a mixture of cottonseed oil and soybean oil with NaOH as the catalyst and methanol. They reported that the final products for both oils have the same properties, and the result was comparable with mineral diesel.

#### Table 6

Possible FFA content for alkali catalyzed transesterification.

Type of catalyst	FFA content	References
Alkali catalyst	Less than 0.5 wt%	[69]
	Less than 1.0 wt%	[72]
	Greater than 1 wt%	[73]
	Less than 2 wt%	[74]
	Less than 3 wt%	[75]
	Up to 5 wt%	[76]

Meng et al. [83] produced biodiesel from waste cooking oil with methanol and NaOH as catalyst. They investigated the effects of different operating parameters on conversion and quality of product. These parameters include molar ratio of methanol to oil (3:1, 5:1, 6:1, 7:1, and 8:1), the amount of catalyst (0.5, 0.7, 1, 1.1, 1.2 wt%), the reaction time (30, 50, 60, 70, 90, and 110 min), and the reaction temperature (30, 40, 45, 50, 60, and 70 °C). They reached 86% conversion at the optimum condition of 6:1 molar ratio, 0.7% catalyst weights, 90 min reaction time and 50 °C reaction temperatures. Tomasevic and Siler-Morinkovic [63] reported the results of biodiesel production from waste sunflower oil with different molar ratios of methanol to oil (4.5:1, 6:1, and 9:1) and in the presence of potassium hydroxide (KOH) and sodium hydroxide (NaOH) as catalysts. The highest conversion was obtained at the molar ratio of methanol to oil 6:1, with 1% KOH/g acid value, 25 °C temperatures, and a reaction time of 30 min. Besides, they reported that good quality biodiesel was obtained with waste cooking oil by 6:1 methanol to oil molar ratio, 1% KOH, 90 min reaction time, and 25 °C reaction temperatures. However, they concluded that increasing the amount of catalyst and alcohol did not have any effect on conversion. Refaat et al. [84] investigated biodiesel production from waste cooking oil and different molar ratios of methanol to oil (3:1, 6:1, and 9:1), KOH and NaOH as catalyst with different concentrations (0.5% and 1% w/w) and reaction temperatures (25 and 65 °C). The optimum condition that produced the highest yield around 98.16% was molar ratio of 6:1, 1% w/w KOH catalyst and 65 °C reaction temperature. Meanwhile, they reported that KOH showed 1% higher conversion in comparison with NaOH. Allawzi and Kandah [85] reported the transesterification of waste soybean oil with different ethanol concentration (30-40 vol%), KOH (9-14 g/l) and reaction time (30-40 min). The results were 78.5 vol% yields at the optimum condition of 12 g/l catalyst concentration and 30 vol% ethanol. Some researchers compared NaOH and KOH catalysts activity and concluded that KOH reacted faster in comparison with NaOH catalyst [86]. However, majority of researchers have used NaOH catalyst for transesterification reaction and believed that is the best catalyst for waste cooking oil [87]. Dorado et al. [88] focused on biodiesel production from different types of vegetable oils such as palm oil and Brazilian hydrogenated fat with 5.12% FFA, Spanish olive oil with 2.24% FFA and a mixture of German vegetable oil with 1.28% FFA and KOH as catalyst during a two-step transesterification reaction. Their reported yield was 89-95%. Besides, other researchers have reported that the two-step transesterification process is better than one-step reaction since it needs a lower reaction temperature, less alcohol and amount of catalyst but reached a higher conversion [89].

The utilization of other kinds of base catalyst such as potassium methoxide (KOCH<sub>3</sub>) and sodium methoxide (NaOCH<sub>3</sub>) has been reported in varies studies. Alcantara et al. [65] obtained 95% conversion with NaOCH<sub>3</sub> catalyst, with the added advantage of a reusable catalyst. Besides, Jordanov et al. [90] investigated biodiesel production from waste cooking oil with sodium methoxide as catalyst, and it has been reported to have 85.5% yields. Some researchers utilized different types of catalysts such as NaOH, KOH, NaOCH<sub>3</sub>, and KOCH<sub>3</sub> with a two-step transesterification reaction of waste cooking oil and methanol. They investigated the effect of different variables such as reaction temperature (25–65 °C), catalyst weight (0.1–1.5%), molar ratio of methanol to oil (3:1, 9:1). The results indicated that the higher yield and quality of biodiesel obtained at the optimum condition of 1% KOH, 65 °C temperature, and molar ratio of 6:1. Meanwhile, they concluded that the two-step reactions can improve the conversion up to 30% compared with onestep reaction [87].

Felizardo et al. [78] produced biodiesel from waste cooking oil with sodium hydroxide and dry magnesium sulphate. The reaction condition includes a 65 °C reaction temperature for 1 h, 3.6 and 5.4 molar ratio of methanol to oil and 0.2–1% catalyst weight. The researchers investigated variables such as oil acid value, molar ratio and catalyst weight. The results showed that the oil with lower acid value produced higher quality methyl ester than other oils with higher acid value (14%). Meanwhile, the best molar ratio of methanol to oil was 4.2% and the optimum amount of catalyst to WCO ratio was between 0.4 and 0.8 wt%. However, the authors concluded that the utilization of higher molar ratio can reduced the amount of catalyst to WCO ratio.

Wang et al. [91] reported 97.02% FAME conversion from WCO, and the optimal reaction was 1 wt% NaOH as catalyst, 6:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil for 1 h at the temperature 65 °C. Yusup and Khan [92] used waste cooking palm oil with KOH (0.5, 1, 2 wt%) as catalyst, molar ratio of methanol to oil (6:1, 8:1, 10:1), and reaction temperature (45, 55, 65 °C). The highest conversion was 96% with optimal conditions identified as 3 h reaction time, 55 °C reaction temperature, 8:1 molar ratio and 2 wt% catalysts. Meanwhile, they considered the effects of different variables on FAME conversion.

Leung and Guo [93] compared two different feedstock (canola oil and waste cooking oil) and alkali catalyst (NaOH) for biodiesel production. The optimal reaction was carried out at methanol to oil molar ratio of 7:1, 1% catalyst, 70 °C reaction temperature and 20 min reaction time to reach 90.4% conversion. However, they reported that temperature reduction from 70 °C to 40-45 °C increased the conversion up to 93.5%. Nevertheless, this reaction needs more time, which is around 60 min. Meanwhile, they obtained 88.8% FAME yield from waste cooking oil. The optimum condition was 7:1 alcohol to oil molar ratio, 1.1% NaOH, 60 °C reaction temperature, and 1 h reaction time. Dias et al. [94] evaluated the optimum amount of various base catalysts such as KOH, NaOH, and NaOCH<sub>3</sub> for waste cooking oil, soybean oil, and sunflower oil. Their result showed that 0.4–1.2% of these catalysts were sufficient for waste cooking oil and 0.2-1 was needed for neat oils. Fig. 3 indicates the homogeneous base-catalyzed transesterification mechanism which includes four steps. Firstly, the alkoxide ion formed and then directly acted as a strong nuclephile. Alkali catalysis has a direct route compare to acid. The main difference between acid and base catalytic activity in transesterification reaction is formation of electrophilic species versus stronger nuclephile formation, respectively [95].

#### 3.1.1. The liquid amine

The utilization of liquid-amine based on the catalyst in transesterification process of WCO, soybean oil and tallow were reported. There are four amines based on the catalysts diethyl amine, diethyl ethanol amine (DMAE), tetra-methyl-diamino-ethane (TEMED) and tetra-methyl-ammonium hydroxide (TMAH). The best conversion of 98% was reported for TMAH when temperature was equal to 65 °C and reaction time was 90 min but this method required more liquid amine [65].

3.1.2. Pretreatment of WCO before alkali catalyzed transesterification Alkali catalysts are very sensitive to water and FFA content in feedstock [96,97]. Therefore, various types of pretreatment methods are used for WCO purification, such as steam injection [98], column chromatography [99], neutralization; film vacuum evapo-

ods are used for WCO purification, such as steam injection [98], column chromatography [99], neutralization; film vacuum evaporation [100], and vacuum filtration [101,102,47]. Meanwhile, the methods of steam distillation [103] and extraction by alcohol [104] require high temperature and large amounts of solvent, respectively making the biodiesel production process less efficient and more complicated. Dennis et al. [105] decreased the FFA content of WCO by the usual procedure of esterification of FFA with



Fig. 3. Reaction mechanism of homogeneous base catalyzed transesterification.

sulphuric acid acting as catalyst. Both the homogenous and heterogeneous acid catalysts can be used in this method [106]. But, the solid acid catalysts are more advantageous compared to homogeneous catalysts [107]. In addition, some scientists have used acidic ion-exchange resins to reduce the FFA of WCO. However, the reduction of catalyst activity is the main problem in this method [108,109]. Li et al. [110] reported the esterification reaction with iodine catalyst at optimal condition of 80 °C reaction temperatures, 1.75:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 3 h reaction time, and 1.3 wt% catalyst. The results indicated that this type of catalyst can be recycled after reaction and can reduce the FFA content to less than 2%. The new method for pretreatment of waste oil is utilization of glycerol for acidic raw material at high temperature (200 °C) with zinc chloride as a catalyst. In this method, glycerol reacts with FFA to form monoglycerides and diglycerides. Therefore, the FFA content is reduced and biodiesel can be produced. This method needs no alcohol during the reaction, and water immediately vaporized from the mixture [111]. However, these pretreatment methods increase biodiesel production costs.

## 3.2. Acid catalyzed transesterification reaction

Acid catalysts are insensitive to free fatty acids, and they have better results for vegetable oil with FFA greater than 1% [112]. However, acids can produce a large number of salt interaction, which is a cause of corrosion. Some researchers have used inorganic acids such as sulfuric acid, phosphoric acid, sulfonated acid and hydrochloric acid in the transesterification process. The acid is mixed directly with vegetable oil. Esterification and transesterification steps occur in single stage because acids have esterification reagents and play a solvent role in this single process [113]. These types of catalysts have a very slow reaction thus the reaction time is increased [114].

Nye et al. [114] used different types of alcohols such as methanol, ethanol, 1-propanol, 2-propanol, 1-butanol, 2-ethoxy ethanol,  $H_2SO_4$  and KOH as catalysts with waste cooking oil. They reported that acid catalyzed esters had higher yield compared to alkali catalyzed reaction. However, this reaction increased the reaction time. Recently, a large number of researchers utilized Lewis or Bronsted acids as a catalyst for biodiesel production in both kinds of homogenous and heterogeneous processes [115].

Abreu et al. [116] used Sn, Pb, and Zn complexes in the form of M (3-hydroxy-2-methyl-4-pyrone)  $2(H_2O)_2$  in transesterification reaction of vegetable oils to make a four-member ring transesterification state. In addition, Di Serio et al. [106] investigated using carboxylic salts of Cd, Mn, Pb and Zn as catalysts to produce biodiesel with high FFA content. Soriano et al. [52] reported the use of homogenous Lewis acid catalyzed like THF and ALCL<sub>3</sub> or ZnCL<sub>2</sub> with different reaction temperatures and reaction time in the production of FAME. The results showed 98% conversion at optimum conditions with 110 °C reaction temperatures, 12–24 molar ratio of alcohol to oil, 18 h reaction time and 5% AlCL<sub>3</sub> as catalyst. However, the maximum conversion reached 48% with optimum condition of molar ratio of 60 and reaction time of 24 h, and ZnCL<sub>2</sub> as catalyst. Therefore, the authors concluded that AlCL<sub>3</sub> is a stronger and more effective Lewis acid than ZnCL<sub>2</sub>.

Freedman et al. [117] investigated the transesterification of soybean oil with methanol, 1 wt% sulfuric acid at 65 °C, molar ratio of 30:1 methanol/soybean oil and it took approximately 69 h to reach more than 90% conversion of biodiesel. Canakci and Gerpen [35] evaluated the effect of changing the molar ratio, reaction temperature, weight of catalyst and reaction time on biodiesel conversion in acid-catalyzed transesterification process, and the results showed that increasing the amount of variables caused higher conversion. One advantage of an acid catalyzed method is it is independent of free fatty acids and this method does not require pretreatment processing. These advantages make acid catalyzed the preferred method to process waste cooking oil that normally has free fatty acid of more than 2 wt% [118,119,97].

Al-Widyan and Al-Shoukh [120] demonstrated that acid catalyst is promising for transesterification of waste vegetable oils. They used waste palm oil as feedstock and sulfuric and hydrochloric acids as catalysts with different concentrations and added 100% more alcohol. The results revealed that higher concentration of acid can produce methyl ester with lower specific gravity in shorter time. The optimal condition was 2.25 M sulfuric acid, temperature 90 °C and 3 h of time. Besides, they reported sulfuric acid worked better than hydrochloric acid to produce lower specific gravity biodiesel. Meanwhile, Miao et al. [121] investigated biodiesel production through highly effective acidic reaction catalyzed by triflouroacetic acid. They considered different ranges for molar ratio of methanol to oil (5:1-60:1), catalyst concentration (0.0, 3.0 M), temperature (100–120 °C) and reaction times (1, 7 h). They reported 98.4% conversion at optimum condition of 2.0 M catalyst concentration, 20:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 120 °C reaction temperatures for 5 h. Wang et al. [91] used WCO, four levels of acid catalyst (sulfur acid 3, 4, 5, 6 w/w%), molar ratio of methanol to oil (10:1, 12:1, 16:1, 20:1, 24:1) and different reaction times (1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 10 h) at 95 °C reaction temperature. The best reaction with 96% conversion was carried out at the optimum condition of 4:1 w/w catalyst, 16:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil for 10 h and 95 °C. Fig. 4 illustrates the mechanism of homogeneous acid-catalyzed transesterification of triglycerides in three steps. First, protonation of carbonyl group followed by nucleophilic attack of alcohol that produces tetrahedral intermediate. Finally, the proton migration and the tetrahedral intermediate breakdown will omit glycerol to create a new ester and reforms the catalyst [95].



Fig. 4. Reaction mechanism of homogeneous acid catalyzed transesterification.

## 3.3. Acid and alkali catalyzed two-step transesterification

The most pressing problems of acid and alkali catalyzed transesterification are slow reaction and separation of methyl ester and glycerol (saponification), respectively. Many researchers try to use two-step acid and alkali catalyzed transesterification to eliminate these problems. In the first step, the esterification of FFA with acid catalysts to decrease FFA levels to lower than 1% and in the second step, the transesterification of WCO with alkali catalysts. Fan et al. [122] investigated the biodiesel production from recycled canola oil with a two-step acid and alkali catalyzed reaction. In the first step, they considered some variables for acid catalyzed esterification such as molar ratio of alcohol to oil (4.5:1-18:1), catalyst concentration, reaction temperature, and reaction time. The optimum condition was 40:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil and 5% sulfuric acid. Te FFA level was reduced from 11% to 0.41% around 96.3% reductions at 55 °C temperature for 1.5 h. After esterification, transesterification was carried out at 6:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil with 1% potassium hydroxide. Wang et al. [91] comprised the traditional acid catalyzed transesterification reaction with sulfuric acid and the two-step transesterification which used ferric sulfate (2-0%) as catalyst followed by alkali (1.0% potassium hydroxide (NaOH)) catalyst. The results indicated that using the single step method, the highest conversion was 90%. Meanwhile, the optimum condition was 20:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 10 h reaction time with 95 °C reaction temperature. However, the two-step system was different. The highest conversion was 97.22% at the optimum condition of molar ratio of methanol to oil 10:1, reaction time 4 h with 95 °C reaction temperatures. With these results, the researchers argued that two-step systems have more advantages including no acidic waste treatment, high efficiency, low equipment cost and easy recovery of catalyst compared to the limitations of single step reaction.

Various researches have proven that two-step transesterification is better than the single-step process. Issariyakual et al. [123] produced biodiesel from WCO with 90% conversion in a two-step system compared to 50% conversion achieved by single-step alkali catalyzed transesterification. In addition, Encinar et al. [124] concluded that two-step transesterification of WCO has higher conversion of up to 30% in comparison with single-step process. Cayli and Küsefoglu [125] reported the production of methyl ester is 98% in two-step transesterification compared to 86% yield in the single-step reaction. Wan Omar et al. [126] used Response Surface Methodology (RSM) for optimization of the two-stage transesterification. The results indicated the following optimum conditions: reaction temperature of 60 °C, 3 h reaction time, and 7:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, which produced 81.3% yield.

Jain et al. [127] produced biodiesel from a high FFA value of WCO under the optimum conditions of 65 °C reaction temperature for acid and 50 °C for base transesterification reaction, 3:7 (v/v) molar ratio of methanol to oil, 400 rpm mixing intensity, and 1%w/w H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and 1%w/w NaOH catalyst. The conversion was around 90.6% and 21.5% for transesterification and esterification respectively. A majority of researchers suggested two-step transesterification methods because it can produce higher yield and conversion into biodiesel production. However, the most challenging part in this reaction is the catalyst removal in both stages. This problem can be solved by neutralizing the acid catalyst but in the second step, more alkali catalyst should be used to eliminate the problems. The utilization of excess catalyst increases the biodiesel production costs. Meanwhile, the residue catalysts can be harmful for engines.

Guzatto et al. [128] used Transesterification Double Step Process (TDSP) in biodiesel production from different feedstocks. The result was exceptional because they need lower reaction time in the first step, lower the amount of catalyst used as well as mixing the methanol and acid solution directly without a cooling process between the two steps. The researchers used H NMR and a variety of biodiesel analysis methods for analyzing the quality of products. The conversion for different raw materials were high (waste cooking oil and soybean oil = 97% and linseed oil = 98%). Meanwhile, they could produce high amount of yields  $87 \pm 5\%$ ,  $92 \pm 3\%$ , and 93 ± 3% for waste cooking oil, soybean oil, and linseed oil respectively. Thanh et al. [129] investigated two-step biodiesel production from waste cooking oil with KOH as catalyst, and also they used a continuous ultrasonic reactor to produce high quality FAME. The results indicated that 81% and 91% yields for first and second steps, respectively. Cheroenchaitrakool and Thienmethangkoon [130] optimized the optimum condition of two-step catalyzed process with MINTAB REIEASE 14 and RSM. The optimal variables were 6.1:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 51 °C reaction temperature, 0.68 wt% sulfuric acid as a catalyst, and 60 min reaction time in first step and 9.1:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 55 °C reaction temperature, 1 wt% KOH as catalyst, and 60 min reaction time for the second step. The yield was 90.56 ± 0.28%. Two-step acid and alkali catalyzed transesterification is less time consuming and less costly in contrast with the single step acid catalyst process which takes longer reaction time for its completion. Obviously, shorter reaction time required lower energy consumption. Consequently, the product cost decreases significantly [127,131].

#### 3.4. The reactive extraction process

There are a lot of reports about new methods in biodiesel production using oilseeds rather than purification oils production with the transesterification reaction [132–134]. This method eliminates the expensive oil extraction process. Additionally, for recovering oils from seeds, manufactures are using hexane extraction technology which leads to smog formation and global warming. Furthermore, the utilization of high cost refined oil is the main obstacle in biodiesel production. This method is called in situ-transesterification and it works with any kind of oilseeds such as soybean, Jatropha, unwanted bran and protein meal [135,132]. Qian et al. [136] used cottonseed oil for biodiesel production without any pretreatment and extraction processes. The results illustrate 99% of oil was extracted at more than 98% of conversion. The optimum condition was 40 °C reaction temperature, 3 h reaction time and 0.1 mol/l of sodium hydroxide in methanol. Meanwhile, the size range of cottonseed particles was 0.3–0.335 mm and less than 2% moisture content.

Lei et al. [132] investigated low quality rice bran with in situtransesterification process. Rice bran contains 15–23% of triglycerides and is a cheap feed stock for methyl ester production. They evaluated the effects of alkaline and acid catalysts on yield. The optimum yield was 95% with 75 ml methanol, 0.75 g sulfuric acid, 150 ml petroleum as co-solvent and 0.71 g of sodium hydroxide. Biodiesel production from rice bran with in situ-transesterification can reduce total production costs and make it economically competitive against regular diesel fuel.

#### 4. Heterogeneous catalyzed transesterification

## 4.1. Solid catalyst

The homogenous reaction has some disadvantages such as low tolerance towards FFA, and water content and the purification process is complicated. Meanwhile, researchers have focused on the heterogeneous reaction with solid catalysts to eliminate these factors. Ideally, solid catalyst should have characteristics such as an interconnected system of large pores [137,138], a medium to high concentration of strong acid sites, hydrophobic surface [139], and the ability to regulate the hydrophobicity of the surface to prevent the deactivation process [95,140]. Various types of heterogeneous catalysts such as ion exchange resins [141-143], sulfated oxides [144–146], and heterogeneous base catalysts like transition metal oxide and derivatives [147,148], boron group base heterogeneous catalyst [149–155], alkaline earth metal oxides and derivatives [156–158], mixed metal oxides and derivatives [150,151,156], alkali metal oxides and derivatives [159,160], waste material based heterogeneous catalyst [161,162], carbon based heterogeneous catalyst [163,164], and enzyme based heterogeneous catalyst [165,166], have been used in various biodiesel production processes.

## 4.2. Solid acid catalysts

Wang et al. [167,91] investigated biodiesel production with two methods. The first method, involved FAME production from waste cooking oil with solid acid catalyst in a two-step process and the second feature, FAME production in a conventional acid catalyst system. Meanwhile, they compared the results of these two methods. The two-step process had 97.02% conversion with 10:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 4 h reaction time, and reaction temperature were 95 and 65 °C for the first and second steps, 2 wt% ferric sulfate and 1 wt% KOH as catalysts in the first and second steps. However, the conventional method had around 90% conversion with 20:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil and 10 h reaction time. The two-step system had major advantages such as absence of acidic wastewater; low equipment costs, easy recovery of catalyst, and high efficiency. The conventional method had some limitations such as no reusability of catalyst and high equipment costs.

Cao et al. [168] produced biodiesel from high acid value and water content of WCO and heteropoly acid as catalyst. This process had around 87% conversion for transesterification reaction and 97% conversion for esterification reaction. The catalyst (PW12) has some superb properties such as higher activity, easy separation from product, and is reusable for many times. In addition, FFA and water content has no effect on the catalyst activity. The

transesterification was carried out at 65 °C temperature, 70:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, and 14 h reaction time.

Jacobson et al. [60] attempted to search for a powerful solid acid catalyst for simultaneous transesterification and esterification reactions where among (MoO<sub>3</sub>/SiO<sub>2</sub>, MoO<sub>3</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub>, WO<sub>3</sub>/SiO<sub>2</sub>, WO<sub>3</sub>/ SiO<sub>2</sub>—Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, and ZS/Si) the zinc stearate immobilized on silica gel (ZS/Si) was more active than others, with 98% conversion. The optimum condition was 600 rpm mixing intensity, 18:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 3% w/w catalyst, and 200 °C reaction temperature. Kulkarni et al. [169] evaluated the effects of various variables on conversion of methyl ester from low quality waste cooking oil and high FFA with 12-tungstophosphoric acid (TPA) as catalyst. The results indicated that this kind of catalyst is nontoxic, recyclable, inexpensive, and user and environmentally friendly. Komintarachat and Chuepeng [170] investigated biodiesel production from WCO with different types of solid acids to evaluate the most active catalysts. They focused on parameters such as different porous support of catalyst, molar ratio of methanol to oil, catalyst weight, reaction time, reaction temperature, catalyst stability and reusability. The four types of solid acid catalysts, WOX/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (WAL), WOX/SIO<sub>2</sub> (WS), WOX/ZnO (WZn), and WO<sub>X</sub>/SnO<sub>2</sub> (WSn) were evaluated in this research. According to the Table 7 the researchers concluded that WOX/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (WAL) was the best catalyst and the effectiveness of others was sequenced as follows:  $SiO_2 > SnO_2 > ZnO$ . The maximum yield for WAl was 98% at optimum condition of 0.3 weight ratio of methanol to oil, 10 g WAl, 110 °C reaction temperature, and 2 h reaction time.

Ramachandran et al. [171] used heterogeneous acid catalyst (Al  $(H_2SO_4)$ ) and prepared it by sulfonation of anhydrous AlCL<sub>3</sub> in biodiesel production from mixed waste vegetable oils. The physical and chemical properties of catalyst were analyzed using different methods such as Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) and Energy Dispersive Analysis X-Ray (EDAX). The highest conversion of 81% wt was obtained at the optimum condition of 0.5 wt% catalyst, 220 °C reaction temperature, 16:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, and 50 min reaction time. The researchers calculated that the high stability and activity of catalyst are related to the bonded hydrophilic functional groups ( $-SO_3H$ ) and the high acid site density.

Feng et al. [172] evaluated the utilization of cation-exchange resins (NKC-9, 001x7 and D61) as catalyst in biodiesel production from waste cooking oil. The results indicated that NKC-9 had better activity in comparison with the other ones and the esterification conversion increased by increasing the temperature, time, amount of catalyst and molar ratio of alcohol to oil. The highest conversion was 90%. Chen and Fang [173] used catalyst prepared by glucosestarch mixture composed of CS<sub>0.073</sub>O<sub>0.541</sub> for biodiesel production from waste cottonseed oil with 55.2% FFA. The highest yield was 90% for 12 h reaction time. In addition, the catalyst had a good reusability, and it can regenerate by H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> treatment. Corro et al. [174] reported the two-step biodiesel production from waste cooking oil. In the first step, they esterified the FFA with SiO<sub>2</sub> pretreated by HF and in the second step; they used NaOH as catalyst for transesterification of WCO by methanol. Meanwhile, GC/MS indicated that the final yield was 96% FAME. The results showed that the catalyst activity during the first step did not change even after 10 esterification runs. Zhu et al. [175] investigated Poly Styrene

Table 7			
The final yields and	acid values for f	four types of solid	acid catalyst.

. . . .

Entry	Catalyst	FAME yields (wt%)	Acid value (l/mg KOH)
1	$WO_X/AL_2O_3$ (WAI)	98	4.7
2	$WO_X/SiO_2$ (WS)	92	5.6
3	$WO_X/ZnO$ (WZn)	84	4.4
4	$WO_X/SnO_2$ (WSn)	91	5.8

Sulfonic Acid (PSSA) and Poly Vinyl Alcohol (PVA) blend membranes for biodiesel production from waste cooking oil. They reported that at temperatures higher than 80 °C, a cross linker structure emerges between PSSA and PVA. The best conversion was recorded around 80%.

Lam and Lee [176] commented that the biodiesel produced by methanol is not completely renewable since methanol is derived from petroleum fuels. They attempted to use a mixture of methanol and ethanol in biodiesel production from waste cooking oil and solid acid catalyst where the utilization of this mixture could eliminate some limitations such as long reaction time. The highest yield was 81.4% in only 1 h. Olutoye and Hameed [177] investigated biodiesel production from waste vegetable oil and solid catalyst  $(Mg_{1-x}Zn_{1+x}O_2)$ . The highest ester content of 80% was obtained at an optimum condition of 188 °C reaction temperature, 2.55 wt% catalyst, 9:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, and 4.25 h reaction time. Park et al. [143] used WO<sub>3</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst and waste cooking oil for biodiesel production. The highest conversion was 85% in a packed bed reactor, and the optimal condition was 75 °C reaction temperature and 20 h reaction time. But the conversion reduced to 65% in the next run and remained constant for up to 140 h. They concluded that the oxidation of WO<sub>3</sub> was the main reason for the low performance. Furthermore, other scientists reached similar results for this type of catalyst [139]. Park et al. [178] used three different catalysts (sulfated zirconia, amberlyst 15, and tungsten oxide zirconia) for biodiesel production from WCO. It was determined that tungsten oxide zirconia (WO<sub>3</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub>) had the best activity with 96% FFA conversion. The optimum reaction parameters were 150 °C reaction temperature, 9:1 molar ratio of alcohol to oil, 2 h reaction time, and 0.4 g/ml (oil). Some examples of the various heterogeneous acid catalyst applications are listed in Table 8.

The advantages of solid acid catalysts are: (1) insensitive to FFA content, (2) simultaneous esterification and transesterification reaction, (3) easy catalyst removal, (4) product, fatty acid ester, does not need water washing, (5) higher yield, (6) lower amount of catalyst required, (7) environmental-friendly, (8) eliminate or decrease corrosion.

## 4.3. Solid base catalyst

There are different types of solid base catalysts such as calcium oxide [182], Mg–Zr [183], nano-magnetic KF/CaO–Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> [184], modified CaO by trimethylchlorosilane (TMCS) [185], and supported solid base catalyst such as EU<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [186], La/ $\beta$  Zeolite [187], KI/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [188], Na/NaOH/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [189] which researchers have used for transesterification reaction of biodiesel production. These catalysts are inexpensive and have high yield but there has been limited research on FAME from WCO using these types of catalysts.

The supported solid base catalysts are the best catalysts in biodiesel production. Guo et al. [190] investigated the use of solid base catalysts in biodiesel production and demonstrated. that more than 95% yield can be achieved at optimum conditions of 3.0 wt% sodium silicate catalysts, 7.5:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 60 °C reaction temperature, 60 min reaction time, and 250 rpm mixing intensity. Fig. 5 exhibits the flow diagram for biodiesel production by heterogeneous catalysts.

Kondamudi et al. [191] used Quntinite-3T (Q-3T) catalyst made from sol-gel process. They evaluated the activity of this catalyst with various feedstock's such as canola, waste vegetable oils, coffee, and soybean in different FFA content (0–30%). The results indicated that FFA and triglycerides converts into biodiesel simultaneously.

Chung et al. [192] used ZSM-5(MFI), Modern site (MOR), Beta (BEA) zeolite, Fauja Site (FAU), and silicate catalysts for reduction of FFA in waste cooking oil in esterification reaction. They

## Table 8

Various applications of heterogeneous acid catalysts.

Feedstock	Catalyst type	Temperature (°C)	Molar ratio	Cat (wt%)	Time (h)	Yield	Reference
Methyl soyate	Ruthenium catalysts	40	-	0.1	2	46	[141]
Waste cooking oil	Zinc stearate immobilized on silica gel (ZS/Si)	200	18:1	3	10	98	[179]
Jatropha curcas oil	Sulfated tin oxide $(SiO_2(SO4^{2-}/SnO_2-SiO_2))$	60-80	15:1	3	2	97	[180]
Ethyl propanoate and ethyl-	Heteropoly acids ( $H_2SO_4$ , Amberlyst-15 and zeolites HY	60	20:1	0.1	1	84	[144]
Sunflower oil/methanol mixtures	Silica functionalized with 4-ethyl-benzene sulfonic acid groups	200	6:1	1.5	-	-	[181]



Fig. 5. Flow diagram of biodiesel production using heterogeneous catalyst.

## Table 9

Various applications of heterogeneous solid base catalysts.

Catalyst	Reaction condition	Yield (%)	Conversion (%)	Reference			
	Temperature (°C)	Molar ratio	Time (min)	Catalyst (wt%)			
Al/Mg hydrotalcite	100	60:1	180	10	<80	-	[193]
KNO <sub>3</sub> /Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	70	12:1	420	6	87	-	[194]
Montmorillonite KSF	190	8:1	180	3	79.6	-	[195]
MgO	_	12:1	60	0.5	92	-	[196]
	300	39.6:1	-	-	91%	-	[197]
CaO	100	6:1	-	1	-	90	[198]
SnO	65	12:1	30	3	90	-	[199]
Waste eggshell	60	18:1	60	10	97	-	[200]
Golden apple	60	18:1	60	10	83	-	[200]
Meretin venus	60	18:1	60	10	78	-	[200]

#### Table 10

Advantages and disadvantages of the acid/base catalysts tested for (trans-) esterification.

Catalyst type	Benefits	Drawbacks
Ion-exchange resins (Nafion, Amberlyst)	Very high activity easy regeneration	Low thermal stability possible leeching
Tpa (H3pw12o40)	Very high activity	Soluble in water
Tpa-Cs (Cs2.5h0.5pw12o40)	Super acid sites	Low activity per weight
Zeolites (H-Zsm-5, Y and beta)	Controllable acidity and hydrophobicity	Small pore size low activity
Sulfated metal oxides (zirconia, titania, tin oxide)	High activity thermally stable	Deactivates in water, but not in organic phase
Niobic oxide (Nb2o5)	Water tolerant	Average activity
Calcium oxide/Cao	Low temperatures	Long reaction times
Calcium methoxide/Ca(Ome)2	High yield, reusable	High reactants ratio
Calcium ethoxide/Ca(Oet)2	High yield, short times	High reactants ratio
Li-dopped zinc oxide/Zno	Low temperatures	Long reaction times
KF loaded on Eu2o3	Short reaction times	Incomplete yields

concluded that MFI zeolite improved the removal of FFA with cracking. In addition, the pore structure and acidity of catalyst affects the catalytic activity in FFA elimination. Table 9 summarizes some other studies that used various types of heterogeneous base catalysts [190]. In addition, Table 10 indicates the advantages and disadvantages of heterogeneous acid and base catalysts [201].

## 4.4. Heterogeneous solid catalysts potential for industrial application

Biodiesel production by heterogeneous solid catalysts instead of conventional homogeneous catalyst leads to economical production costs due to catalyst recycling and reusability [202], simultaneous esterification and transesterification [203], and lower catalyst (solid base) consumption. Mbaraka and Shank [204] reported that 88 tones of homogeneous catalyst (NaOH) was necessary for 8000 tones biodiesel production. In contrast, Dossin et al. [205], used only 5.7 tones heterogeneous solid catalyst (supported MgO) for 100,000 tones FAME production. However, the main drawback of solid catalyst application is the formation of three phases mixture (catalyst, oil, and alcohol). There are two key solutions for the mass transfer problem. The first is application of cosolvents such as *n*-hexane, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), ethanol, and tetrahydrofuran (THF) that improves the miscibility of alcohol and oil. The second is catalyst support utilization that increases the catalyst activity by providing larger specific surface area and pores [206].

There is only one industrial biodiesel production plant utilizing heterogeneous solid catalyst which is the Esterfif<sup>™</sup> process. The French Institute of Petroleum (IFP) studied the fundamental of this process and the Axens developed the technology of practical usage. Bournay et al. [207] described the reaction process of zinc and aluminum (Zn-Al) mixed-oxide utilized as a heterogeneous solid catalyst. Reaction was performed at higher pressure (3-5 Mpa) and temperature (483-523 K) compared to conventional homogeneous process. Table 12 illustrates the process that includes two fixedbed reactors with rapeseed oil as the feed and excess methanol. In addition, excess methanol was removed by partial evaporation after each reaction before biodiesel and glycerol were separated in a settler. The final products (98% FAME yield and glycerol with >98% purity) conformed to the European specifications. The main characteristics of biodiesel and glycerol are summarized in Table 11. The disadvantages of the process include: (1) it is sensitive to the FFA and water (below 1000 ppm) content [208], (2) it requires relatively high reaction temperature and pressure. Therefore, only refined oils can be used in this plant.

Kouzu and Hidaka [209] compared the application of CaO as a heterogeneous solid catalyst for biodiesel production in a laboratory scale pilot plant and (Zn—Al) solid catalyst which was utilized by Esterfif<sup>™</sup> process. They used CaO catalyst from limestone with

particle size of 1.0–1.7 mm. The reaction process included a fixed-bed reactor located in a circulating stream of the batch transesterification system. The result was 97% FAME yield at 333 K reaction temperature and atmospheric pressure with only 2 h reaction time. They used circulating flow to provide sufficient contact time of emulsified reactant and CaO catalyst and fast feed-ing. Table 12 summarized the features of CaO catalyst process and (Zn–Al) Esterfif <sup>TM</sup> process.

CaO catalyst leaching was the main obstacle for industrial application of this process. However, the best solution is polishing biodiesel with absorbent to omit the catalyst leaching. However, the leaching problem has not been overcome yet. It is clear that transesterification effect decreased by reusing CaO catalyst. Nevertheless, the catalyst was reused successfully for 17 times [210]. Similarly, the solid catalyst in the Esterifi™ process was deactivated as with time [211]. However, researchers concluded that CaO solid heterogeneous catalyst was feasible for industrial biodiesel production plant. In addition, Zabeti et al. [206] reported that small amount of water could improve the CaO catalyst activity and FAME yield. They reached to 95% biodiesel yield by adding 2.03 wt% water at optimum condition of 8 wt% catalyst amount, 12:1 molar ratio of alcohol to oil, and 3 h reaction time. More importantly, the catalyst was stable even after 20 cycles.

Although the biodiesel production by heterogeneous solid catalyst has been industrialized, researchers still continue their work for improving the process. As such, the current process worked at high temperature (220–240 °C) and high pressure (40–60 bar) which consequently concurred with high industrial construction costs. Therefore, there are many research activities on new heterogeneous catalyst application that have industrial potential.

Rattanaphra et al. [212] evaluated myristic acid esterification with sulfated zirconia as heterogeneous solid catalyst. Sulfated zirconia has recently received considerable attention as a catalyst in industrial processes due to its superacid characteristics. It has higher acid strength than sulfonic ion-exchange resins, heteropolyacid, and other heterogeneous acid catalyst [213,214].

Zeolite is microporous alumina silicate mineral that is used for fluid catalytic cracking and hydro-cracking in petrochemical industry and also as adsorbent for water and waste water treatment. There are various types of zeolites with inner electric fields and pore structure for crystal and surface properties [215]. Zeolite has high potential to be used in industrial biodiesel production plants.

Lou et al. [216] investigated biodiesel production from WCO by 27.8 wt% FFA content in presence of some carbohydrate-derived catalyst produced from different carbohydrates such as starch, sucrose, p-glucose, and cellulose. The results showed that starchderived catalyst was the best one due to high stability (>93%) after 50 cycles of reusability. In addition, it exhibited higher catalytic

#### Table 11

Characteristics of biodiesel and glycerol produced from rapeseed oil with CaO heterogeneous catalyst.

Biodiesel				Glycerol		
	R <sub>1</sub>	R <sub>2</sub>	ES		Method	
Weight composition (%)				Glycerol content (wt%)	BS 5711-3	>98.0
Methyl esters	94.1	98.3	>96.5	Specific gravity 25 8C (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	ISO 3675	1264
Monoglycerides	2.0	0.5	<0.8	Refractive index 20 8C	ASTM D1747	1.4735
Diglycerides	1.1	0.1	<0.2	Acidity (mg KOH/g)	EN 14104	0.1
Triglycerides	1.6	0.1	<0.2	Ash (wt%)	ISO 6245	None
Free glycerol	-	-	< 0.02	Chlorides (mg/kg)	EP5.0	<10
Metal content (mg/kg)				Chlorinated compounds (mg/kg)	EP5.0	<10
Group I (Na + K)	<2	<2	<5	Halogenated compounds (mg/kg)	EP5.0	<10
Group II (Ca + Mg)	<2	<2	<5	Heavy metals (mg/kg)	ASTM D4951	None
Zn	<1	<1	-	Arsenic (mg/kg)	ISO 11969 D18	<0.1
Phosphorus content (mg/kg)	<10	<10	<10			
Acid number (mg KOH/kg)	<0.3	<0.3	<0.5			

#### Table 12

Comparison between CaO and Zn-Al heterogeneous catalyst industrial application [209].



R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>2</sub>, R: fixed-bed reactor.

PL: polisher.

activity compared to sulphate zirconia and niobic acid in both esterification and transesterification reactions. Thus researchers concluded that this catalyst is eco-friendly, recyclable, highly effective, and highly suitable for biodiesel production from WCO with high FFA.

Yan et al. [217] utilized various ratios of  $ZnO-La_2O_3$  catalyst for biodiesel production from waste oils. Final results indicated that the Zn-La with ratio of 3:1 was recycled for 17 times without loss of activity in batch reactors and produced 92.3% biodiesel yield for 70 days in a continuous tubular flow reactor. Meanwhile, other research showed up to 100 days activity for the same catalyst [218]. This type of ZnO-La<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst has the longest catalyst life among all heterogeneous catalyst applied for biodiesel production.

#### 4.5. Enzymatic catalyzed transesterification

Recently, it has been found that enzymatic catalyst (immobilized lipase) can be used in transesterification reaction. No byproduct, easy product removal, reusability without any separation step and lower operating temperature are the key advantages of this method. However, it is found to be very expensive [219,220]. The enzymatic reaction is insensitive to water and FFA content in waste cooking oil [220,221]. Ranganathan et al. [222] compared the alkali and enzymatic transesterification process in biodiesel production. They construed that the utilization of biocatalyst can produce very high purity FAME with lower or no downstream process compared to alkali catalysts.

Some factors have significant influence on the biodiesel production with lipase such as number of cycles, types of alcohol, ratio with oil and type of lipase. There are different types of lipases that can be used as the catalyst such as: Rhizaopusoryzae, Candida rugosa, Psuedomonas fluorescens, Burkholderia, Cepacia, Aspergillusniger, Thermomyces lanuginose and Rhizomucormiehei [223]. Hsu et al. [221] investigated the production of biodiesel from waste grease with two different alcohols (methanol and ethanol) and immobilized lipase. Transesterification with methanol showed very low conversion (47-89%) but transesterification with ethanol indicated the acceptable conversion levels (84-94%). Meanwhile, researchers have reported that immobilized lipase can be used many times without a serious loss of activity. Yagiz et al. [224] used immobilized lipase on hydrotalcite and zeolite catalyst and waste oils for biodiesel production. The highest yield was 95%, and the optimum condition was 4:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 5 h reaction time, and 4 wt% catalyst loading. In addition, they reported seven times reusability for catalyst.

Amount of water, temperature and pH are additional factors that affect the biodiesel yield. Chen et al. [225] investigated biodiesel production from WCO at the presence of immobilized candida lipase in fixed bed reactor. They believed that WCO utilization solve both environment pollution and energy crisis problems. The highest 91.08% FAME yield was obtained at optimum condition of 25:15:10:100 of lipase/hexane/water/WCO weight ratio, 2.1 ml/ min reactor flow, and 45 °C reaction temperature. There are reports that the minimum amount of water is necessary to activate enzymes [226-229] since enzymatic activity decreases in larger amounts of water. This means the amount of water for enzymatic method must be between 0.1% and 20% [229-231]. The impact of water in enzymatic method infers that lipase acts between aqueous and organic phases. Increasing the temperature initially would increase the reaction rate, but the effectiveness may be reduced and the reaction limited by mass transfer causing the rate of reaction to decrease dramatically at high temperature [232]. In enzymatic method, solution pH increases overall production. Pseudomonas cepacia has a high pH of about 7, and this property makes it easier to use compared to other types of lipase and should be used whenever a researcher wants to produce high yield without pH tuning [233].

#### 4.5.1. Immobilization of lipase

The natural lipase substrates (lipids) are in-soluble; however, their globular protein nature makes lipases spontaneously soluble in aqueous solutions [234]. The utilization of proper organic solvent or an emulsifier can overcome the mistake of increasing more enzyme and substrate [232,235]. On the other hand, the usage of lipase for pseudo homogeneous reactions causes technological problems such as pollution of products with residual enzymatic activity and commercial problems such as the usage of enzyme in a single reactor pass. These problems consume a portion of the overall potential of enzymatic activity. However, lipase becomes an independent phase in the reaction system with immobilization without any problem and consumption. Furthermore, rising temperatures cause the rate of lipase-catalyzed reaction per unit value of active enzyme to increase, but this trend leads to a higher thermal deactivation rate of lipase, therefore, yielding decreasing amounts of active enzyme [232,236]. The immobilization forms a hard external back bone lipase molecule and increases the temperature, so faster reaction rate will occur.

The best method for immobilization is physical adsorption. This method is recommended by a majority of scientists for such reasons as it is non-toxic and inexpensive, able to retain activity and able to be regenerated [237]. The immobilized lipase by physical adsorption was used successfully in biodiesel production [228,238-240]. However, lipase immobilized through entrapment is more stable than physically adsorbed lipase [241]. In addition, the application of lipase encapsulated in a sol-gel has shown good results in biodiesel production [227,242,243]. Different types of membrane reactors such as flat sheet [244], and hollow fiber form [240,245] were used to increase the conversion because the reaction and separation occurred simultaneously in these types of reactors. The cost of lipase is the main obstacle that holds back the full exploitation of enzyme potential. Therefore, reusability of lipase is necessary. Immobilized form of lipase is a suitable catalyst for economic production of biodiesel with enzymatic catalysts because it has a higher stability and rate of activity compared to the soluble form.

Mittelbach [246] investigated the transesterification of sunflower oil with Pseudomanas lipase, Candida lipase, and Mucor lipase as catalyst with three types of alcohols (methanol, ethanol, butanol), with and without petroleum ether as solvents. The results showed that the conversion for ethanol and butanol was high even without solvent but methanol only produced traces of FAME without solvent. Besides, Nelson et al. [247] reported that Candida antarctica was a suitable catalyst for secondary alcohols such as iso-propanol and 2-butanol with around 80% conversion and Mucor miehei was good for primary alcohols like methanol, ethanol, propanol and butanol with around 95% conversion with solvents (hexane). However, methanol only showed around 19.4% conversion without a solvent. Some researchers reported low conversion for methanol and ethanol [248-250] and reported around 90% conversion for 2-ethyl-1-hexanol and P. fluorescens enzyme with butanol as acyl acceptor. The low yield referred to the inhibitory effects caused by methanol in the immobilized enzymes transesterification.

Al-Zuhair et al. [251] designed a pilot plant to produce biodiesel from WCO with enzymatic catalyst (Immobilized lipase (Novozyme 435)) in a packed-bed bioreactor. The researchers used a flash drum and a vacuum distillation column to produce a higher purity of the product. The results indicated that this pilot plant required around 620,000 US\$ in capital costs which must be paid back in 4 years. Rodrigues et al. [252] investigated biodiesel production from virgin and waste sunflower oil and two types of enzymes (Lipozyme TL IM and Novozym 435) as catalyst with supercritical carbon dioxide. The transesterification reaction with lipozyme TL IM was carried out at 40 °C reaction temperature, 20 MP pressure, 24:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, and only 20 s reaction time. The result was around 98% yields of methyl ester. However, they then evaluated the effects of combination of Lipozyme TL IM and Novozyme 435 on the final yield in which they achieved around 99% FAME yield. Table 13 summarizes the various applications of enzymatic catalyst in biodiesel production processes.

#### 4.6. The non-enzymatic heterogeneous catalyst

This method is relatively new and includes  $ZrO_2$ , ZnO,  $SO_4$ , 2-/SnO<sub>2</sub>, SO<sub>4</sub>,  $2-/ZrO_2$ , KNO<sub>3</sub>/KL, zeolite and KNO<sub>3</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub>. The main advantages of these types of catalysts are: less corrosion and being more environments friendly. These properties can reduce the cost of biodiesel production. Furthermore, they can reduce the formation of soap even in low quality oils. However, this type of reaction was carried out at 200 °C and pressure level of 50 bars, with 6:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil and 3% catalyst weight for maximum efficiency [223].

### 4.7. Non-catalytic production

There are a large number of drawbacks in biodiesel production using conventional methods (alkali and acid catalyzed processes) such as: requires high energy to conduct, difficult recovery of glycerol, high sensitivity to water and FFA content in raw material (feedstock), and very low reaction rates. Meanwhile, the utilization of lipase (enzymatic catalyzed) has their own disadvantages such as having a high price of catalyst and being time consuming [267,268]. Researchers have attempted to find novel methods that do not need catalysts to eliminate or decrease these types of obstacles in biodiesel production [269]. Saka was the first scientist who proposed that FAME can be produced by supercritical method [270]. The supercritical method requires no catalyst and can achieve near complete conversion in a relatively short time. This method is not feasible for large scale production because it requires high temperature and pressure for biodiesel production. These reasons dramatically increase the equipment and production costs. Thus, most researchers have focused on finding new approaches in this method to decrease the reaction temperature and pressure. The utilization of co-solvents such as carbon dioxide, hexane and calcium oxide are the key components to overcome these obstacles [271,272].

Jian-Zhong et al. [273] investigated biodiesel production with a conventional supercritical method and a supercritical coupled with

Table 13

bolice studies in biodicser production with various transesterineation enzyme.	Son	ne stu	lies	in	biodiesel	production	with	various	transesterification	enzyme
--	-----	--------	------	----	-----------	------------	------	---------	---------------------	--------

Lipase	Oil	Alcohol	Conversion (%)	Cost	Reference
Novozyme 435	Vegetable oil	Methanol	90–93	Moderate	[253]
-	Sunflower oil	Methanol	97	High	[254]
	Soybean oil	Methyl acetate	92	High	[255]
	Soybean oil	Methanol	98	High	[256]
	Rapeseed oil	Methanol	95	High	[257]
	Cotton seed	Methanol	97	High	[258]
	Jatropha oil	Ethyl acetate	91.3	high	[259]
	Canola oil	Methanol	-	_	[260]
	Rice bran oil	Methanol	-	_	[261]
	Olive oil	Methanol	-	_	[262]
R. oryzae	Vegetable oil	Methanol	90	-	[263]
R. oryzae	Soybean oil	Methanol	90	Low	[264]
P. fluorescens	Jatropha oil	Ethanol	-	_	[265]
R. miehei	Palm oil	Methanol	-	-	[266]
C. rugosa	Jatropha oil	Ethanol	-	-	[265]
P. cepacia	Jatropha oil	Methanol and ethanol	-	-	[248]

co-solvents methods. The conventional method was carried out at various reaction temperatures (260, 300, and 350 °C), constant molar ratio of methanol to oil 42:1, 300 rpm mixing intensity, and different pressure up to 20 Mpa. The results showed that at 350 °C reaction temperature, the highest yield was 95% in 10 min. Meanwhile, alcohol and oil do not mix to form a single phase; therefore, hexane was added to the mixture to solve this problem. The results indicated that the reaction yield without hexane was 67.7%, but the vield reached 85.5% with 25 wt% of hexane. The researchers concluded that mutual solubility between methanol and oil was improved with the addition of hexane. Furthermore, the researcher reported the reaction with carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  hexane as a proper solvent for vegetable oil. However, supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> is a suitable solvent for moderate and small organic molecules, because it has low cost and available material. The supercritical condition of CO<sub>2</sub> is 31 °C and 7.38 Mpa which it is lower than the supercritical methanol conditions (239 °C and 8.09 Mpa). The reaction condition for supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> was 300 °C reaction temperatures, 0.2 ratio of CO<sub>2</sub> to methanol, and 42:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil. The highest yield achieved was 90.6% FAME in 30 min. In addition, the supercritical method coupled with potassium hydroxide (cosolvent) was also reported in this study. The results of this part of research was excellent because the highest yield in the supercritical condition without catalyst was (<5%) but when the mass ratio of KOH to oil was 0.1% with 16 °C reaction temperature and 10 Mpa pressure, the yield was 98% FAME. The results of the last part of the research showed that the temperature reduced to around 190 °C compared to the conventional method. Meanwhile, the reaction with stirring speed of 300 rpm, KOH mass 0.1 wt%, 30 min reaction time, 160 °C reaction temperature, and 24:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil reached to 100% yield. There are many researches on utilization of co-solvents with supercritical method such as using propane [274], calcium oxide [272], and carbon dioxide [271]. The third approach of non-catalytic method is the utilization of co-solvent that is soluble in methanol and oil. This type of reaction does not have residual catalyst in the glycerol and ester and also is complete in only 5–10 min. Tetrahydrofuran is a co-solvent that is used in this method. Its boiling point is near to methanol boiling point. The results indicated that the process could have around 99% conversion with high FFA raw material such as animal fat and crude palm oil [275].

Demirbas [276] compared the FAME conversion in two catalytic and supercritical methanol methods. He evaluated the effect of different variables such as temperature, catalyst weight, and molar ratio of methanol to oil in both methods. The results showed that the optimum condition for base catalyzed transesterification reaction was 90:1 molar ratio, 360 K reaction temperature, and 6% catalyst weight to produce lower than 90% yield. However, for the supercritical methanol method, the optimum condition was 560 K reaction temperature, 41:1 molar ratio, to produced high purity of FAME (99.6%) and glycerol (96.5%). Tan et al. [277] investigated the biodiesel production from waste palm cooking oil with supercritical method. They evaluated the effects of variables such as molar ratio of alcohol to oil, reaction temperature, and reaction time. The final and highest yield was around 80% at the optimum condition. There are several advantages of supercritical method including: (1) free fatty acids and glycerides react at equivalent rates, (2) the diffusive problems are eliminated by homogeneous phase, (3) the process tolerates great percentage of water in the feedstock, (4) there is no catalyst elimination step, (5) high molar ratio of methanol to oil can produce higher conversion in short reaction time. Despite having all these advantages, this method has some significant disadvantages including: (1) The process required high pressure (25-40 Mpa), (2) high reaction temperature  $(350-400 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$  caused extra costs for cooling and heating processes, (3) un-reacted methanol evaporation process is expensive with the high molar ratio of methanol to oil. Table 14 compares four different transesterification methods for biodiesel production [41].

#### 5. Effect of different processes in biodiesel production

#### 5.1. Reactive distillation method

Fig. 6a shows the life cycle of fossil fuels versus biodiesel. It indicates that the production and consumption of biodiesel creates no pollution, but fossil fuels produce 1.55 kg of CO<sub>2</sub> per 1 l of diesel burned. Meanwhile, Fig. 6b illustrates the reactive distillation column process for biodiesel production [278]. Reactive distillation is the process where chemical reaction and distillation separation occur simultaneously in the single equipment. This process has some advantages for special reactions such as: the reaction needs one or more reactant, the reaction needs to remove some of the products for completion, and the co-product recycling or product recovery process is complicated or has the possibility for azeotrope formation [279]. A variety of reactions such as homogenous catalyst, heterogeneous catalyst and non-catalyst can be carried out in reactive distillation process, in which the reaction must show reasonable data for conversion at pressure and temperature levels that are similar (compatible) to distillation conditions [280,281].

The application of reactive distillation process has some advantages such as: continuous removal of products from reaction zone can eliminate the conversion limitations: it can also decrease capital costs because both reaction and separation processes are carried out using the same equipment. In addition, the type of integration is needed to lower costs in piping and instrumentation, heat integration and pumps. Moreover, this process can eliminate the need for a re-boiler because in exothermic reactions, the heat of vaporization provides from the heat of reaction. Meanwhile, there is no azeotrope formation in this process. The other properties of reactive distillation process are: reactive distillation includes a smaller amount of equipment, hence a lower number of connections between instruments, reducing safety issues. Meanwhile, the evaporation removes reaction heat. Generally the reactive distillation process is less severe than conventional process [281,282]. Wang et al. [283] evaluated the reactive distillation process for methyl acetate hydrolysis process. The results indicated a 10% reduction in energy consumption and a 50% increase in production, compared to conventional fixed bed reactor.

#### Table 14

Comparison of different biodiesel production methods.

Variable	Alkali catalysis	Acid catalysis	Enzyme catalysis	Supercritical alcohol
Reaction temperature (°C)	60-70	55-80	30-40	239-385
Free fatty acid in raw materials	Saponified products	Esters	Methyl esters	Esters
Water in raw materials	Interference with reaction	Interference with reaction	No influence	-
Yield of methyl esters	Normal	Normal	Higher	Good
Recovery of glycerol	Difficult	Difficult	Easy	-
Purification of methyl esters	Repeated washing	Repeated washing	None	-
Production cost of catalyst	Cheap	Cheap	Relatively expensive	Medium



Fig. 6. (a) Life cycle of diesel versus biodiesel. (b) FAME production in RDC.

Lai et al. [284] produced high purity ethyl acetate with reactive distillation system and reached 99.5 wt% purity. He et al. [285] investigated biodiesel production from canola oil by reactive distillation process. They reported that by excising alcohol, a smaller reaction time could be achieved to the higher conversion. There are other researches in the different types of reactive distillation method such as catalytic reactive distillation, dual reactive distillation, and simulation and modeling of reactive distillation process. Da Silva et al. [280] compared the results of biodiesel production from soybean oil with reactive distillation and catalytic reactive distillation process. The results showed that the highest conversion for reactive distillation was 94.54% ethyl ester with optimum condition of 6 min reaction time, 6:1 molar ratio of ethanol to oil, and 1.5 wt% catalyst weight. However, in distillation, the best conversion was 98.18 wt% with 0.65 wt% sodium hydroxide as catalyst, 8:1 molar ratio of ethanol to oil, and 6 min reaction time.

Catalytic Distillation (CD) has received massive attention recently from both industrial and scientific researchers. Smith [286] invented this method for Methyl Tert-Butyl Ether (MTBE) synthesis. A large number of successful catalytic distillations were carried out, such as Eastman Kodak process for the methyl acetate production [287] and MTBE process [288]. The advantages of this method are: increased reaction conversion and selectivity, shifting the chemical equilibrium by continuous removal of products, significantly decreases the catalyst requirement, easy separation of the catalyst from the reaction mixture, reduces capital costs, avoidance of hot spots and runaway, heat integration benefits, and no undesired reaction. However, this method has complex interaction between vapor–liquid equilibrium, mass transfer, multiple steady state dynamics, and intra catalyst diffusion and chemical kinetic [282].

### 5.2. Dual reactive distillation

The catalytic reactive distillation method allows more opportunities in biodiesel production and specialty chemicals. Effective water removal for protecting the solid catalyst against deactivation and avoiding costly recovery of the excess alcohol are the most important problems to overcome. Dimian et al. [289] investigated a novel approach based on dual esterification of fatty acid with light and heavy alcohols. The methanol and long chain alcohol 2ethyl hexanol have an equivalent reactive function but synergistic thermodynamic features. The reaction process takes place at moderate pressure, 130 and 200 °C temperatures compared to high pressure and vacuum by single light and heavy alcohol. The esterification behaves like reactive absorption combined with reactive azeotropic distillation with water-separation agent and heavy alcohol as co-reactant. Furthermore, the researchers developed an original method in the application of a control strategy for obtaining the optimum operation condition. The most important advantages are: high flexibility in operation, multi-functional reactive distillation device, and decreased equipment costs by highly integrated design [290].

In addition, some researchers focused on integration methods to reduce energy consumption in biodiesel production. Reactive distillation, catalytic reactive distillation, and dual reactive distillation have significant effects in reduction of costs and energy consumption in fatty acid production. Meanwhile, Kiss et al. [291] reported that heat integrated reactive distillation uses much lower energy around 43% for heating and 47% for cooling compared to conventional reactive distillation. Furthermore, they used Aspen Plus for modeling and simulation of the process, and the results showed around 99.9% FAME production. The most important advantages of this method are: (1) process productivity increase up to 5–10 times higher than conventional units, (2) reactants are fed in stoichiometric ratio, without excess alcohol, (3) catalyst neutralization, salt water treatments, and soap production are eliminated, (4) sulfur eliminated from final product, (5) large range of alcohols and fatty acids are suitable, (6) investment costs decreases, (7) energy consumption significantly reduces, (8) reaction conversion and yield are very high.

## 5.3. Reaction absorption

Reactive absorption is a novel biodiesel process that offer more advantages compared to conventional methods. The advantages are: high conversion and selectivity, simple and robust process, no thermal degradation of product, omits regular catalyst-related operations and no waste streams. It can also decrease capital and operational costs. Researchers use water tolerant solid acid for catalysts in this method, so they can eliminate additional separation steps and salt waste streams.

Table 15 shows all available solid acid catalyst with their advantages and disadvantages [292–294]. Reactive absorption has some advantages in comparison with reactive distillation for instance lower temperature in the reactive separation column to avoid the thermal degradation of the FAME products. It means that without re-boilers (no product vapors return to the column) and a condenser (no reflux of water by product) the capital and operating cost can be reduced, and the process becomes simpler and more

Table 15				
Advantages and d	lisadvantages	of available	solid acid	l catalysts.

Catalyst type	Benefits	Drawbacks
Ion-exchange resins (Nafion, Amberlyst) TPA (H3PW12040)	Very high activity easy regeneration Very high activity	Low thermal stability possible leeching Soluble in water
TPA-Cs (Cs2.5H0.5PW12O40)	Super acid sites	Low activity per weight
Zeolites (H-ZSM-5, Y and Beta)	Controllable acidity and hydrophobicity	Small pore size low activity
Sulfated metal oxides (zirconia, titania, tin oxide)	High activity thermally stable	Deactivates in water, but not in organic phase
Niobic oxide (Nb <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub> )	Water tolerant	Average activity

robust. Meanwhile, reactive absorption can shift the chemical equilibrium to completion by continuous removal of products instead of using an excess of reactant. The main problem for esterification is the removal of effective water to protect the solid acid catalyst; excess alcohol should not be used in this method. Meanwhile, the removal of water is important for shifting the reaction to the equilibrium, resulted in higher conversion and purity [289,292,294–296].

This method is suitable for waste cooking oils, waste vegetable oils and animal fats with up to 100% FFA. Furthermore, this method works at moderate temperature and ambient pressure. The reaction condition was 160 °C temperature, 1 bar pressure, resulting in 99.9% methyl ester yield [297]. Kiss and Bildea [298] evaluated the integrated reactive absorption process for biodiesel production with solid acid catalyst and the simulation of the process. The results illustrated that the purity of production was higher than 99.9% when the productivity of reactive absorption unit was 19 (kg FAME/kg catalyst h). Table 16 shows different types of reactive separation processes for fatty acids esterification and also the amount of energy required for each method [298]. In addition, the integrated reactive absorption requires only 21.6 kW h/tone biodiesel, which is around one ninth of energy requirement for the conventional reactive distillation.

#### 5.4. Continuous flow biodiesel production

The conventional transesterification process uses batch operation, which has some disadvantages such as: poor adaption to automation, tedious, and labor-intensive. However, a continuous flow biodiesel production has significant benefits that include low production costs and time in small-scale plant, the ability to produce higher quality biodiesel per unit of labor, and the capacity to improve the equipment design to optimize the quality of biodiesel [227]. Moreover, the continuous method increases productivity and profit while reducing costs and reaction time. The Rotating Packed Bed (RPB) has been designed to increase the micro-mixing efficiencies and mass transfer by the utilization of great centrifugal force. Various applications of this method have been reported such as the utilization of RBP as gas liquid contact in absorption [299-302], distillation [303,304], stripping [305,306], and ozonation [307-311]. Meanwhile, the RPB method has a high micro-mixing ability and can be used in a large number of applications

Table 16

	Energy	requirement	for	different	methods
--	--------	-------------	-----	-----------	---------

Method	Energy requirement (kW h/tone biodiesel)	Reference
Reactive distillation	191.2	[276]
Dual reactive distillation	166.8	[289]
Reactive absorption	138.4	[297]
Heat integration reaction distillation	108.8	[291]
Integrated reactive absorption	21.6	[298]

[307,312,313]. In addition, the RPB reactors produce smaller particles in shorter time compared to conventional reactors [314].

Chen et al. [299] investigated biodiesel production with rotating packed bed reactors. Meanwhile, they evaluated the effects of variables such as molar ratio of alcohol to oil (4:1, 6:1, 12:1, 18:1 and 24:1), reaction time (0.43-1.67 min), mixing intensity (150, 300, 900, 1500 rpm), reaction temperature (34, 42, 60, 65 °C), and catalyst weight (0.1, 0.24, 1, 2, 3, 5%w/w). The results of this research showed a wide range of (5.5–97.3%) conversion. The optimum condition was 0.72 min reaction time, 900 rpm mixing intensity, 6:1 molar ratio of alcohol to oil, 3%w/w catalyst weight and 60 °C reaction temperature which produced the highest conversion of 97.3% ester. Komers et al. [315] reported around 98.5% conversion for biodiesel production with continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR) from soybean oil with KOH as catalysts. Halim et al. [316] developed a continuous procedure of lipase-catalyzes transesterification of waste cooking palm oil in a packed bed reactor, raising the possibility of large-scale production. Meanwhile, the researchers used Response Surface Methodology (RSM) for process optimization. The results showed that the optimum condition was 10.53 cm packed bed height, 0.57 ml/min flow rate. Novozyme 435 as catalyst, tert-butanol as solvent, 1:1 volume ratio of solvent to oil, 4:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil and 40 °C reaction temperature and the highest FAME yield was 80.3%. In addition, they concluded that mass transfer controlled the transesterification of waste cooking oil in a continuous packed bed reactor. Table 17 shows various studies on continuous production.

### 5.5. Membrane reactor

The most important issues in biodiesel production are the removal of residual impurities such as free glycerol, catalyst, un-reacted methanol, bound glycerol, un-reacted tri-glycerides (TG), diglycerides (DG), monoglycerides (MG), and small amounts of soap and water because these types of impurities affect engine performance significantly [323]. One approach for separation of impurities in FAME is to drive the reaction as close as possible to complete conversion of the oil. However, the transesterification of TG is an equilibrium reaction and the reaction can never reach 100% completion. The second approach is multiple water wash of product but this method requires waste water treatment process [324]. The utilization of hot water (50 °C) stream for washing showed the best results. Some solid absorbents such as activated carbon fiber, activated carbon, and activated clay can be used for purification product [325,326]. Another method for purification and separation of biodiesel is the utilization of membrane reactors. Methanol and vegetable oils are not miscible and membrane reactors take advantage of this immiscibility to create a better purification process. The separation by membrane is useful for water purification, protein separation and gas separation. The commercial application of this method is separation that involves aqueous solutions and relatively inert gases [327,328]. There are two types of membrane, organic and inorganic. Meanwhile, the inorganic membranes are suitable for use with organic solvents because they have high thermal stability and can be used at high temperatures

Table 17		
Continuous	transesterification	process.

Oil	Catalyst	Reactor	T (°C) <sup>a</sup>	$V_R$ $(ml)^b$	t <sub>L</sub> (min) <sup>c</sup>	Y <sub>FAME</sub> (%) <sup>d</sup>	P <sub>FAME</sub> (mol/ min) <sup>e</sup>	P <sub>FAME</sub> /V <sub>R</sub> * 10 <sup>3</sup> (mol/ (ml min)) <sup>f</sup>	Reference <sup>g</sup>
Soybean oil	NaOH	Motionless mixers and high-shear reactor	80	2000	5.80– 8.12	68-99.5	0.511-0.872	0.255-0.436	[317]
Palm oil	КОН	Stirred-tank reactor	60	1000	40-70	58.8– 97.3	0.0252– 0.0278	0.0252-0.0278	[318]
Canola oil	КОН	Reactive distillation reactor	55	10	2.67– 6.67	41.5-97	0.00172- 0.00931	0.172-0.931	[319]
Soybean oil	КОН	Microwave heating reactor	50	2000	0.56	94.4– 95.25	4.9–17.8	1.23-4.46	[320]
				4000	2				
Commercial oil,	КОН	Ultrasonic	38	2620	10-30	72-96	0.199-0.623	0.057-0.23	[321]
palm oil			40	6350		50-94	0.186-0.514	0.058-0.119	
Soybean oil	NaOH	Zigzag micro-channel reactor	40	0.0642	0.3	81.5– 99.5	0.00025	3.89-8.11	[322]
			75		0.47		0.00052		

<sup>a</sup>  $T(^{\circ}C)$  = the reaction temperature.

<sup>b</sup>  $V_R$  (ml) = reactor volume.

<sup>c</sup>  $t_L$  (min) = the estimated hydraulic retention time.

 $^{d}$   $Y_{\text{FAME}}$  = yield of the fatty acid methyl ester.

 $P_{FAME}$  = productivity of FAME.

<sup>f</sup>  $P_{\text{FAME}}/V_R \text{ (mol/(ml min))} = P_{\text{FAME}} \text{ per unit reactor volume.}$ 

g Reference.

[329,330]. The advantages of membrane reactors are: (1) production cost decrease due to integrated reaction and separation step, (2) thermodynamic limited or product-inhibited reactions increase, (3) incompatible reactants controlled contact, (4) undesired reactions eliminated.

Dube' et al. [331] reported that micro-porous inorganic membrane reactor could remove FAME, glycerol, and methanol during the transesterification reaction of triglycerides. Cao et al. [332] investigated the utilization of membrane technology for biodiesel production and reductions in required molar ratio of methanol to oil. The results showed that the highest conversion was (85.7-92.4 wt%) and significant reduction for molar ratio from 15:1 to 10:1 methanol to oil. He et al. [333] compared three conventional methods of washing with distilled water, washing with acid (HCL), and extracting with solvent (n-hexane or petroleum ether) with a novel technology of hollow fiber membrane extraction. All conventional methods produced 97.5% purity biodiesel. However, the membrane reactor obtained around 99% purity and other properties of biodiesel such as kinematic viscosity, acid value and density were similar to standard values. Saleh et al. [323] reported the utilization of membrane reactors for separating glycerol from the product. Their experiment showed that the membrane technique only uses 2.0 g water for one liter of treated FAME (0.225 mass%). However, conventional methods use 10 liters of water for one liter of treated biodiesel.

Sdrula [334] investigated membrane separation for crude glycerides and biodiesel. Biodiesel industry produces million tons of crude glycerides waste, and this amount of glycerin is projected to increase rapidly with the significant growth of biodiesel production. The researcher used an economical solution which combines the high efficiency of electro dialysis and nano-filtration for purity and recovery of glycerin, respectively. The High Efficiency Electro-Pressure Membrane (HEEPM) can be operated in batch, semi-batch and continuous processes. Fig. 7 illustrates the general scheme of HEEPM technology and Fig. 8 shows a schematic view of prototype biodiesel membrane separation plant [334].

Another new technology is hydrophobic porous membranes that can be used in biodiesel industry. The advantages of this method are: (1) different raw material such as recycled cooking oil, pure vegetable oil, animal fat, and some solid oils with any level of FFA can be used, (2) various types of membranes have been developed for different kinds of raw material, (3) high quality FAME according to ASTM D-6571 and EN-14214, (4) glycerinpurifying process with membrane system meets USP standard, (5) no additional chemicals needed, (6) decreased costs.

The application of various types of membrane such as ceramic separation [335], hybrid separation [336,337,103], and polymeric membrane [338] have been reported for biodiesel separation process. Wang et al. [339] evaluated ceramic membrane separation for biodiesel purification to decrease the water demand in washing process in contrast with micro-filtered and the pore sizes of 0.6, 0.2 and 0.1 µm to separate the residual soap and free glycerol at 60 °C temperatures and 0.15 MPa pressure. The best pore size was 0.1 µm, and this novel refining process of biodiesel did not produce wastewater compared to conventional methods. Furthermore, Gomes et al. [340] reported 99.4% glycerol retention with 0.2 µm membrane pore size and 2.0 bar pressure. The results showed that transmembrane pressure has a significant influence on biodiesel microfiltration. In addition, they evaluated the effects of ethanol on feed mixture. The results indicated that 5% mass ethanol in feed stock gave the highest result of 99.6% glycerol retention. Buchaly et al. [341] investigated the simulation, modeling and analysis of hybrid separation process (combination of reactive distillation and membrane separation) by application of heterogeneous catalyst (*n*-propyl propionate) from 1-propanol and propionic acid. The results illustrate the process performance in terms



Fig. 7. General scheme by HEEPM technology (EET process).



Fig. 8. Schematic view of biodiesel membrane separation prototype plant.





Fig. 10. Reactive distillation column with membrane separation located in distillate stream.

of acid conversion and product purity was high and feasible. Figs. 9 and 10 illustrate a design of the hybrid process, and a reactive distillation column with a membrane separator located in the distillation stream, respectively. Another approach in membrane separation is a novel process of a dual bed membrane that a few researchers have studied before, and the results show huge advantages in comparison with conventional membrane separation. It is hoped that the utilization of this process is made more mainstream in the future [342,343].

## 5.6. Ultrasonic

Ultrasonic process using sound wave energy vibrates more than 20,000 times per second. These waves are in the range of 20-100 kHz that is beyond the human hearing limit (10-12 kHz). Medical research and detection was the first application of ultrasonic waves in 1930–1940 [344]. However, the industrial application of this energy significantly increased since 1980s and today ultrasonic waves are using in wide ranges of application such as processing, extraction, and atomization [345-347]. Ultrasonic irradiation has three significant influences on reaction: (1) acoustic streaming mixing, (2) variation of sonic pressure lead to rapid movement of fluids [348], (3) cavitation bubbles formed by liquid breakdown that caused by large negative pressure gradient application in liquid. The main effect of ultrasonic waves on chemical reactions comes from formation and collapse of micro-bubbles [349]. The liquid jet effect is cavity collapse that improves the mass transfer by disrupting the interfacial boundary layers. These waves can provide high temperature (>5000 k) and pressure (>1000 atm) that has significant influence on increasing the reaction rate, mass transfer, and catalytic surface areas [350]. Mixing of oil and alcohol is the main factor that increases the biodiesel yield because both oil and alcohol cannot be miscible completely in conventional processes. Therefore, the low frequency ultrasonic waves are the best solution [351].

Ultrasonic irradiation improves the reaction characteristics by formation of smaller droplets (146–148 nm by 50–70 W) compared to conventional stirring system (340 nm by 1000 rpm) by improving the contact area between oil and alcohol [352,353]. Besides, ultrasonic energy can break catalyst to smaller particles to form new sites for subsequent reaction. Therefore, researchers concluded that solid catalysts are suitable choice for this process because the catalysts stability is expected to last longer [354]. In addition, ultrasonic irradiation can enhance the enzyme (Novozym 435) catalyst activity [355,356]. There are some reaction parameters that significantly influence the ultrasonic irradiation process: (1) ultrasonic power, (2) frequency effect, (3) catalyst type, (4) alcohol type.

The main advantages of ultrasonic irradiation process are: (1) shorter reaction time, (2) lower molar ratio of alcohol to oil, (3) less energy consumption (50%), (4) lower amount of catalyst utilization (enzyme), (5) increased reaction rate, (6) enhanced conversion, (7) improved yield, (8) different reaction path way, (9) simpler equipment setup, (10) better process economy, (11) simpler separation and purification processes, (12) higher quality glycerol production.

In contrast, this process has some disadvantages such as (1) the reaction temperature was slightly higher for long reactions, (2) higher catalyst loading compared to conventional processes, (3) the ultrasonic power must be under control due to the soap formation in fast reaction. Therefore, FAME yield can be reduced by higher frequencies (40 kHz).

Since the advantages of ultrasonic process are enormous, the process is suitable for large scale industrial plants. However, comprehensive information about all aspects of chemical reaction and application of heterogeneous catalyst and non-edible oil in continuous systems are still lacking. Definitely this process requires additional technical and scientific enhancement to overcome the drawbacks before commercialization and industrialization can be realized.

Salamatinia et al. [357] investigated the ultrasonic process with heterogeneous transesterification of palm oil for production of biodiesel. Meanwhile, they evaluated the effect of variables such as the reaction time (10-60 min), molar ratio of alcohol to oil (3:1-15:1), catalyst weight (0.5–3.0 wt%) and ultrasonic amplitude (25–100%). Researchers used Design Expert software for statistical optimization of process. The results indicated that RSM model could be able to predict the FAME yield with the lowest error. Besides, the ultrasonic process dramatically reduced the catalyst weight and reaction time to 2.8% wt and 50 min individually, with reaching more than 95% yield. The optimum condition was 9:1 molar ratio of alcohol to oil, 70% and 80% ultrasonic amplitude for Bao and Sro catalyst, respectively. Manh et al. [358] evaluated two ultrasonic (19.7 kHz) and hydrodynamic cavitations methods in alkali catalyzed biodiesel production. The results indicated that both methods were efficient and had significant influence in saving energy and time for transesterification of soybean oil compared to conventional methods. Meanwhile, the researchers concluded that hydrodynamic cavitation has the potential for utilization in industrial scale processes [351]. Yu et al. [350] investigated the production of biodiesel from soybean oil and an immobilized form of Novozym 435 as catalyst. The transesterification reaction was carried out by two different methods (ultrasonic irradiation and ultrasonic irradiation with vibration). The enzyme activity and reaction rate are dramatically increased by ultrasonic irradiation with vibration. Some variables such as water content, ratio of solvent to oil, enzyme dosage, organic solvent, ultrasonic power, ratio of methanol to oil, and temperature were investigated in this research. The results indicated that the 96% yield of FAME was obtained under optimum conditions of 50 rpm mixing intensity, 0.5% water content, 1:1 tert-amyl alcohol to oil volume ratio, 6:1 methanol to oil molar ratio, 40 °C reaction temperature, 50% of ultrasonic power and 4 h reaction time. There are many other researches for application of ultrasonic process in production of biodiesel [359,360–364]. Figs. 11 and 12 shows a flow diagram of the ultrasonic irradiation process and schematic diagram of the experimental set up, respectively [364,357].

#### 5.7. Microwave

Microwave ovens entered households in 1954 and the utilization of this equipment has increased in recent years. Microwaves can heat matter faster than conventional ovens, and this is the most important property of this type of oven. However, industrial microwave applications include product drying, moisture and fat analysis of food product, solvent application and irradiate coal to remove sulfur and other impurities.

Microwaves transfer energy to samples directly and this energy completes the reaction. Microwave irradiation has a higher frequency than radio waves and much lower than X-rays with wavelength of 1 mm–1 m and 300 MHz to 300 GHz frequency [7]. There are three microwave heating equipments patents in use in biofuel manufacturing (WO03/014272 A2, 2003; US 2005/0274065 A1, 2005; US 2006/0162245 A1, 2006). The implementation of multiple microwave process has a significant effect on land, time saving and energy in comparison with conventional single large reactor tank system.

Microwaves do not have the ability to break bonds or form energy, and are manifested as heat through interaction with the materials. This heat can be reflected (metals), transmitted (good insulators that will not heat), or absorbed (decreasing the available microwave energy and rapidly heating the samples) [365]. Refaat et al. [366] obtained the optimum parametric conditions for



Fig. 11. Flow diagram of ultrasonic irradiation process for biodiesel production from vegetable oil in presence of a base-catalyst.



Fig. 12. Schematic diagram of an experimental set-up used for ultrasonic-assisted biodiesel production process.

conventional method with application of microwave irradiation for production of biodiesel from neat and waste vegetable oil with a high FFA content. Meanwhile, the results indicated that microwaves can easily route fuel with the added benefits of increasing the reaction reactant and improving the separation and purification process. There are a lot of reports of utilization of microwave irradiation transesterification that use domestic ovens flow system [101,367,368].

The main advantages of microwave process are: (1) higher quality and yield product, (2) minimum energy consumption (23 times lower than conventional methods) [369], (3) environmental friendly, (4) shorter reaction time, (5) lower molar ratio of alcohol to oil, (6) less quantity of by-products, (7) more effective heat transfer system (conventional methods transfer heat to the reaction by convection, conduction, and radiation from reactor surface but, microwaves transfer energy in a form of electromagnetic and not thermal heat reflux.) The microwave energy is directly delivered to the reactant and preheating step is eliminated.

In addition, Motasemi and Ani [370] reported that 1 kg biodiesel by microwave irradiation system required 0.47 kW h electricity; however, the average 2.1277 kW h electrical energy can be produced by 1 kg biodiesel. Therefore microwave process has potential to produce about 1.6596 kW h/kg extra electrical energy that demonstrates the sustainability of the process.

Barnard et al. [371] evaluated the energy consumption of batch and continuous microwave irradiation for biodiesel production. Their results summarized in Table 18 indicated that the continuous system is more energy efficient that conventional heating and batch microwave system.

On the other hand, the main drawbacks for industrial (largescale) application of microwave processes are: (1) high microwave output (power) may cause damage to organic molecules (triglycerides) [102], (2) safety aspects. The most important limitation of this process is the scaling-up to industrial (Large-scale) production plant from laboratory scale process, due to the low penetration depth (a few centimetres) of microwave radiation into the absorbing material [372,373].

Mazzocchio et al. [374] evaluated the production of biodiesel with NaOH (homogeneous) and Ba(OH<sub>2</sub>)H<sub>2</sub>O (heterogeneous) catalysts under conventional heating and microwave irradiation.

#### Table 18

Comparison between energy consumption by conventional and microwave processes [371].

Method	Energy requirement (kJ/L) <sup>a</sup>
Conventional heating <sup>b</sup>	94.3
Microwave continuous flow (7.2 L/min feedstock flow)	26.0
Microwave continuous flow (2 L/min feedstock flow) <sup>c</sup>	60.3 (92.3) <sup>d</sup>
Microwave heating (4.6 L batch reaction) <sup>e</sup>	90.1

<sup>a</sup> Normalized for energy consumed per liter of biodiesel prepared.

<sup>b</sup> On the basis of values from the joint U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Energy 1998 study into life cycle inventory of biodiesel and petroleum diesel for use in an urban bus.

- <sup>c</sup> Assuming a power consumption of 1700 W and a microwave input of 1045 W.
- <sup>d</sup> Assuming a power consumption of 2600 W and a microwave input of 1600 W.
- <sup>e</sup> Assuming a power consumption of 1300 E, a microwave input of 800 W, a time to reach 50 °C of 3.5 min, and a hold time at 50 °C of 1 min.

Table 19The ethyl ester yield percentage by microwave method.

Reaction time (s)	% Yields of fatty acid ethyl ester at molar ratio					
	3:1 (%)	6:1 (%)	9:1 (%)	12:1 (%)	15:1 (%)	18:1 (%)
10	7.19	23.90	100	100	100	100
20	5.44	34.27	100	100	100	100
30	3.82	27.84	100	100	100	100
40	5.93	31.32	100	100	100	100
50	6.69	39.21	100	100	100	100
60	6.67	32.31	100	100	100	100
80	2.52	41.16	100	100	100	100
100	8.67	24.87	100	100	100	100

The results showed that the microwave was faster and obtained higher activity and yield compared to conventional methods. Meanwhile, under microwave irradiation both catalysts exhibited the same results. However, the Ba(OH<sub>2</sub>)H<sub>2</sub>O catalyst,gave easier separation, recycling and no soap formation. Lertsathapornsuk et al. [375] investigated the production of biodiesel from waste palm oil with domestic microwave (800 W) in a continuous transe-sterification reaction and sodium hydroxide as catalyst. The highest conversion was 97% FAME with optimum condition of 12:1 molar ratio of ethanol to oil, 30% catalyst and 30 s reaction time. In addition, they evaluated the effects of variables such as molar

ratio of ethanol to oil (3:1, 6:1, 9:1, 12:1, 15:1, and 18:1), 1% NaOH as catalyst, and reaction time (10–100 s). The complete conversion (100%) was carried out at 9:1 molar ratio of ethanol to oil and only 10 s reaction time. The researchers reported that the reaction time with microwave irradiation was 10 times shorter than conventional methods. Table 19 indicates the yield percentages of fatty acid ethyl ester from UVO [375]. They compared the fuel properties (kinematic viscosity, cetane number, pour point, copper correlation, sulfur content, could point, high heating value) with standard biodiesel (B100). The results indicated that the product properties were similar to high speed diesel. Besides, these researchers used a continuous method in production of biodiesel by microwave irradiation (800 Watts) from different feed stocks (coconut, rice bran, and used cooking palm oil). The optimum condition was 1.0% sodium hydroxide as catalyst, 9:1 molar ratio of ethanol to oil, and only 30 s reaction time. The results was amazing because they achieved 100%. 94%, and 83% conversion for coconut oil, rice bran oil, and used cooking oil, respectively. Fig. 13 indicates the schematic diagram of continuous microwave process [32].

Yaakob et al. [376] evaluated the effect of methanol to oil molar ratio, amount of catalyst, reaction time and temperature on biodiesel production from Jatropha oil and waste cooking oil. The results indicated that 12:1 methanol to oil molar ratio, 1% NaOH, 7 min reaction time and 65 °C reaction temperatures were the optimal condition. The highest yield was 88% for both feedstocks. Safiuddin and Chua [101] used 0.5% NaOH, 100% excess anhydrous ethanol and 750 W microwave irradiation for production of ethyl ester. Also, they evaluated the amount of microwave exit power and reaction time. The results showed 4 min reaction time in comparison with 75 min for conventional method and 50% exit power of 750 W microwave. Chen et al. [377] investigated biodiesel production from WCO at the presence of NaOH and CH<sub>3</sub>ONa as catalysts. They examined the effect of microwave irradiation on these processes. The results indicated that the FAME yield for CH<sub>3</sub>ONa catalyst was higher than NaOH catalyst, by similar amount of 0.75 wt%. In addition, they concluded that biodiesel vield increased by increasing the reaction time from 1 to 3 min and increasing the microwave irradiation power. The optimum reaction conditions were 0.75 wt% CH<sub>3</sub>ONa catalyst amount, 6:1 molar ratio of methanol to oil, 750 W microwave powers, and only 3 min reaction time.

#### 6. Conclusions

Alternative fuel production from renewable resources poses many challenges. Depletion of fossil-fuel resources, unstable price



Fig. 13. Schematic diagram of a continuous microwave biodiesel production process.

of crude oil and other fossil fuels, and environmental concerns are the main reasons for finding a new fuel which should be environmentally friendly, cheap, widely available, and technically acceptable. Biodiesel is one of the best fuel alternatives that researchers are focused on and efforts are being made to produce it at a lower cost and with outstanding fuel properties. The transesterification reaction is the best method for production and modification of biodiesel. Acid, alkali, or enzymatic catalyzed, and non-catalyst transesterification are different approaches that have been tried for biodiesel production. However, all of them have their own advantages and disadvantages. The type of feed stock is the most important factor in the production of biodiesel. There are various types of vegetable oils and animal fats that can be used in this process. Utilizing waste cooking oil can decrease biodiesel production costs. However, the cooking process has negative influences on oil properties and can create different types of impurities in the oil and can also increase the FFA and water content of oil. Therefore, these obstacles increase the cost for the purification and separation process in the downstream of biodiesel production. The transesterification with alkali catalysts is the conventional method for biodiesel production, but this method causes serious problems in the purification part since they are highly sensitive to FFA and water content in the raw material. The acid catalyzed process is not sensitive to FFA and water content like base catalysts. However, the production process is much longer. The utilization of enzymatic catalysts showed very good results, but they are expensive and for the industrial production of biodiesel, this is not acceptable. In addition, the non-catalyst method or supercritical method requires high temperature and pressure, and this is obviously not economical. Therefore, scientists focus on the utilization of heterogeneous acid and base catalysts in biodiesel production since the catalysts may be reusable many times. The reusability of catalyst is the most important property which can make them economical for industrial production in a continuous process. Hence, various methods such as membrane reactor, reactive distillation, reactive absorption, microwave, and ultrasonic to reduce production costs, reaction time, catalyst and alcohol requirements have been used in transesterification reactions. These methods can increase the quality of FAME for applications to diesel engines without any kind of engine modification.

## Acknowledgements

The authors would like to express their sincere gratitude to the Ministry of Higher Education (MOHE), Malaysia for supporting the project under Fundamental Research Grant Scheme (FRGS) Vote 78402 and 78681.

#### References

- Kafuku G, Mbarawa M. Alkaline catalyzed biodiesel production from *Moringa* oleifera oil with optimized production parameters. Appl Energy 2010;87(8):2561–5.
- [2] Bioengineering Resource Inc. <www.brienergy.com> [accessed 12.08.10].
- [3] Energy Department. <www.energy.gov> [accessed 12.08.10].
- [4] Maceiras R, Rodríguez M, Cancela A, Urréjola S, Sánchez A. Macroalgae: raw material for biodiesel production. Appl Energy 2011;88(10):3318–23.
- [5] Reports and Publications. Statistical review of world energy; June 2007.
- [6] Santori G, Nicola GD, Moglie M, Polonara F. A review analyzing the industrial biodiesel production practice starting from vegetable oil refining. Appl Energy 2012;92:109–32.
- [7] Orchard B, Jon D, John C. Developments in biofuel processing technologies. World Pumps 2007;487:24–8.
- [8] Chattopadhyay S, Karemore A, Das S, Deysarkar A, Sen R. Biocatalytic production of biodiesel from cottonseed oil: standardization of process parameters and comparison of fuel characteristics. Appl Energy 2011;88(4):1251–6.
- [9] Öner C, Altun S. Biodiesel production from inedible animal tallow and an experimental investigation of its use as alternative fuel in a direct injection diesel engine. Appl Energy 2009;86(10):2114–20.

- [10] Meher LC, Sagar DV, Naik SN. Technical aspects of biodiesel production by transesterification—a review. Renew Sust Energy Rev 2006;10:248–68.
- [11] Knothe G. Historical perspectives on vegetable oil-based diesel fuels. Inform 2001;12(11):1103–7.
- [12] Sinha S, Agarwal AK, Garg S. Biodiesel development from rice bran oil: transesterification process optimization and fuel characterization. Energy Convers Manage 2008;49(5):1248–57.
- [13] Balat M, Balat H. Progress in biodiesel processing. Appl Energy 2010;87(6):1815–35.
- [14] Lian S, Li H, Tang J, Tong D, Hu C. Integration of extraction and transesterification of lipid from Jatropha seeds for the production of biodiesel. Applied Energy 2012;98:540–7.
- [15] Qiu F, Li Y, Yang D, Li X, Sun P. Biodiesel production from mixed soybean oil and rapeseed oil. Appl Energy 2011;88(6):2050-5.
- [16] Wen Z, Yu X, Tu ST, Yan J, Dahlquist E. Synthesis of biodiesel from vegetable oil with methanol catalyzed by Li-doped magnesium oxide catalysts. Appl Energy 2010;87(3):743–8.
- [17] Lin L, Ying D, Chaitep S, Vittayapadung S. Biodiesel production from crude rice bran oil and properties as fuel. Appl Energy 2009;86(5):681–8.
- [18] Pleanjai S, Gheewala SH. Full chain energy analysis of biodiesel production from palm oil in Thailand. Appl Energy 2009;86(S1):S209–14.
- [19] Yee KF, Tan KT, Abdullah AZ, Lee KT. Life cycle assessment of palm biodiesel: revealing facts and benefits for sustainability. Appl Energy 2009;86(Suppl. 1):189–96.
- [20] Pimentel D, Marklein A, Toth MA, Karpoff MN, Paul GS, McCormack R, et al. Food versus biofuels: environmental and economic costs. Hum Ecol 2009;37(1):1–12.
- [21] Srinivasan S. The food v fuel debate: a nuanced view of incentive structures. Renew Energy 2009;34(4):950–4.
- [22] Karatay SE, Dönmez G. Microbial oil production from thermophile cyanobacteria for biodiesel production. Appl Energy 2011;88(11):3632-5.
- [23] Rasoul-Amini S, Montazeri-Najafabady N, Mobasher MA, Hoseini-Alhashemi S, Ghasemi Y. Chlorella sp.: a new strain with highly saturated fatty acids for biodiesel production in bubble-column photobioreactor. Appl Energy 2011;88(10):3354–6.
- [24] Chisti Y, Yan J. Energy from algae: current status and future trends: Algal biofuels – a status report. Appl Energy 2011;88(10):3277–9.
- [25] Abou-Shanab RAI, Hwang JH, Cho Y, Min B, Jeon BH. Characterization of microalgal species isolated from fresh water bodies as a potential source for biodiesel production. Appl Energy 2011;88(10):3300–6.
- [26] Gao C, Zhai Y, Ding Y, Wu Q. Application of sweet sorghum for biodiesel production by heterotrophic microalga *Chlorella protothecoides*. Appl Energy 2010;87(3):756–61.
- [27] Lam MK, Lee KT. Potential of using organic fertilizer to cultivate Chlorella vulgaris for biodiesel production. Applied Energy 2012;94:303–8.
- [28] Sánchez A, Maceiras R, Cancela A, Pérez A. Culture aspects of *Isochrysis galbana* for biodiesel production. Applied Energy 2013;101:192–7.
- [29] Huang G, Chen F, Wei D, Zhang X, Chen G. Biodiesel production by microalgal biotechnology. Appl Energy 2010;87(1):38–46.
- [30] Ganapathy T, Murugesan K, Gakkhar RP. Performance optimization of Jatropha biodiesel engine model using Taguchi approach. Appl Energy 2009;86:2476–86.
- [31] Montefrio MJ, Xinwen T, Obbard JP. Recovery and pre-treatment of fats, oil and grease from grease interceptors for biodiesel production. Appl Energy 2010;87(10):3155–61.
- [32] Ejaz MS, Younis J. Production of biodiesel: a technical review. Renew Sust Energy Rev. <u>doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2011.07.079</u>.
- [33] Yan J, Lin T. Biofuels in Asia. Appl Energy 2009;86(S1):S1-S10.
- [34] Demirbas A. Political, economic and environmental impacts of biodiesels: a review. Appl Energy 2009;86:S108–17.
- [35] Canakci M, van Gerpen JH. A pilot plant to produce biodiesel from high free fatty acid feedstock. American Society of Agricultural ENgineering, ASAE. Annualm international meeting, Sacramento, California, USA, July 30- August 1, 2001, paper number: 016049.
- [36] Zhang Y, Dube MA, McLean DD, Kates M. Biodiesel production from waste cooking oil: 2. Economic assessment and sensitivity analysis. Bioresour Technol 2003;90(3):229–40.
- [37] Kulkarni MG, Dalai AK. Waste cooking oil an economical source for biodiesel: a review. Ind Eng Chem Res 2006;45(9):2901–13.
- [38] Haas MJ, McAloon AJ, Yee WC, Foglia TA. A process model to estimate biodiesel production costs. Bioresour Technol 2006;97(4):671–8.
- [39] Marchetti JM, Miguel VU, Errazu AF. Technoeconomic study of different alternatives for biodiesel production. Fuel Process Technol 2008;89(8):740–8.
- [40] Refaat AA. Different techniques for the production of biodiesel from waste vegetable oil. Int J Environ Sci Technol 2010;7(1):183–213.
- [41] Enweremadu CC, Mbarawa MM. Technical aspect of production and analysis of biodiesel from used cooking oil – a review. Renew Sust Energy Rev 2009;13:2205–24.
- [42] Demirbas A. Comparison of transesterification methods for production of biodiesel from vegetable oils and fats. Energy Conserv Manage 2008;49:125–30.
- [43] Wu X, Leung DYC. Optimization of biodiesel production from camelina oil using orthogonal experiment. Appl Energy 2011;88:3615–24.
- [44] Leduc S, Natarajan K, Dotzauer E, McCallum I, Obersteiner M. Optimizing biodiesel production in India. Appl Energy 2009;86(S1):S125–31.

- [45] Gerpen VJ, Shanks B, Pruszko R, Clements D, Knothe G. Biodiesel Analytical method. Subcontractor report. National Renewable Energy Laboratory; 2004.
- [46] Goering CE, Schwab AW, Daugherty MJ, Pryde EH, Heakin AJ. Fuel properties of Elven vegetable oils. Trans ASAE 1982;85:1472–83.
- [47] Ramadhas S, Jayaraj S, Muraleedharan C. Use of vegetable oils as I.C. engine fuels – a review. Renew Energy 2004;29:727–42.
- [48] Lam MK, Lee KT, Mohamed AR. Homogeneous, heterogeneous and enzymatic catalysis for transesterification of high free fatty acid oil (waste cooking oil) to biodiesel: a review. Biotechnol Adv 2010;28:500–18.
- [49] Bruwer JJ, Boshoff BD, Hugo FJC, Duplessis LM, Fuls J, Hawkins C, et al. The utilization of sunflower seed oil as renewable fuel diesel engines. In: Agricultural energy, vol. 2, biomass energy/crop production. ASAE Publication 4-81; 1980.
- [50] Singh SP, Singh D. Biodiesel production through the use of different sources and characterization of oils and their esters as the substitute of diesel: a review. Renew Sust Energy Rev 2010;14:200–16.
- [51] Ayhan D. Relationships derived from physical properties of vegetable oil and biodiesel fuels. Fuel 2008;87:1743–8.
- [52] Soriano NU, Migo VP, Sato K, Matsumura M. Crystallization behavior of neat biodiesel and biodiesel treated with ozonized vegetable oil. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 2005;107:689–96.
- [53] Joshi RM, Pegg M. Flow properties of biodiesel fuel blends at low temperatures. Fuel 2007;86:143–51.
- [54] Ahmad M, Rashid S, Ajab AK, Zafar M, Sultana S, Gulzar S. Optimization of base catalyzed transesterification of peanut oil biodiesel. Afr J Biotechnol 2009;8:441–6.
- [55] Lapuerta M, Fernández JR, de Mora EF. Correlation for the estimation of the cetane number of biodiesel fuels and implications on the iodine number. Energy Policy 2009;37:4337–44.
- [56] Ma F, Hanna MA. Biodiesel production: a review. Bioresour Technol 1999;70:1–15.
- [57] Chisti Y. Biodiesel production from microalgae. Biotechnol Adv 2007;25:294–306.
- [58] Marmesat S, Macado RE, Velasco J, Dorbangarnes MC. Used frying fats and oils. Comparison of rapid tests based on chemical and physical oil properties. Int J Food Sci Technol 2007;42:601–8.
- [59] Canakci MÖ, zsezen AN. Evaluating waste cooking oil as alternative diesel fuel. GU J Sci 2005;18(1):81–91.
- [60] Jacobson K, Gopinath R, Meher LC, Dalai AK. Solid acid catalyzed biodiesel production from waste cooking oil. Appl Catal B: Environ 2008;85:86–91.
- [61] Phan AN, Phan TM. Biodiesel production from waste cooking oils. Fuel 2008;87:3490-6.
- [62] Sharma YC, Singh B, Upadhyay SN. Advancements in development and characterization of biodiesel: a review. Fuel 2008;87:2355–73.
- [63] Tomasevic AV, Siler-Marinkovic SS. Methanolysis of used frying oil. Fuel Process Technol 2003;81:1–6.
- [64] Ruiz-Mendes MV, Marmesat S, Liotta A, Dobarganes MC. Analysis of used frying fats for the production of biodiesel. Grasas Aceites 2008;59(1):45–50.
- [65] Alcantara R, Amores J, Canoira L, Fidalgo E, Franco MJ, Navarro A. Catalytic production of biodiesel from soybean oil. Used frying oil and tallow. Biomass Bioenergy 2000;18:515–27.
- [66] Lam MK, Lee KT. Renewable and sustainable bioenergies production from palm oil mill effluent (POME): win-win strategies toward better environmental protection. Biotechnol Adv 2011;29:124–41.
- [67] Atapour M, Kariminia HR. Characterization and transesterification of Iranian bitter almond oil for biodiesel production. Appl Energy 2011;88(7):2377–81.
- [68] Demirbas A. Competitive liquid biofuels from biomass. Appl Energy 2011;88:17-28.
- [69] Jeromin L, Peukert E, Wollmann G. Process for the pre-esterification of free fatty acids in fats and oils. US Patent 4698186; 1987.
- [70] Liu KS. Preparation of fatty acid methyl esters for gas chromatographic analysis of lipids in biological materials. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1994;71:1179–87.
- [71] Basu HN, Norris ME. Process for production of esters for use as a diesel fuel substitute using a non-alkaline catalyst. US Patent 5525126; 1996.
- [72] Fangrui M, Hanna MA. Biodiesel production: a review. Bioresour Technol 1999;70:1–15.
- [73] Crabbe E, Hipolito CN, Kobayashi G, Sonomoto K, Ishizaki A. Biodiesel production from crude palm oil and evaluation of butanol extraction and fuel properties. Process Biochem 2001;37:65–71.
- [74] Fukuda H, Kondo A, Noda H. Biodiesel fuel production by transesterification of oils. J Biosci Bioenergy 2001;92:405–16.
- [75] Dorado MP, Ballesteros E, Arnal JM, Gomez J, Lopez FJ. Exhaust emissions from a diesel engine fuelled with transesterified waste olive oil. Fuel 2003;82:1311–5.
- [76] Gerpen JV. Biodiesel processing and production. Fuel Process Technol 2005;86:1097–107.
- [77] Arquiza AC, Bayungan MC, Tan R. Production of biodiesel and oleochemicals from used frying oil. University of Philippines, Los Baños; 2000. <www.people.cornell.edu/pages/jaa56>.
- [78] Felizardo P, Correia MJN, Raposo I, Mendes JF, Berkemeier R, Bordado J. Production of biodiesel from waste frying oil. Waste Manage 2006;26:487–94.
- [79] Yin X, Ma H, You Q, Wang Z, Chang J. Comparison of four different enhancing methods for preparing biodiesel through transesterification of sunflower oil. Appl Energy 2012;91:320–5.

- [80] Guo Y, Leung YC, Koo CP. A clean biodiesel fuel produced from recycled oils and grease trap oils. Better air quality in Asian and Pacific rim cities, BAQ 2002. 16–18 December 2002, Hong Kong Polytechnic University. PS-55:1–6.
- 81] Chhetri AB, Watts KC, Islam MR. Waste cooking oil as an alternative feedstock for biodiesel production. Energies 2008;1:3–18.
- [82] Georgogianni KG, Kontominas MG, Tegou E, Avlonitis D, Vergis V. Biodiesel production: reaction and process parameters of alkali-catalysed transesterification of waste frying-oils. Energy Fuels 2007;21:3023–7.
- [83] Meng X, Chen G, Wang Y. Biodiesel production from waste cooking oil via alkali catalyst and its engine test. Fuel Process Technol 2008;89:851–7.
- [84] Refaat AA, Attia NK, Sibak HA, El Sheltawy ST, El Diwani GI. Production optimization and quality assessment of biodiesel from waste vegetable oil. Int J Environ Sci Technol 2008;5(1):75–82.
- [85] Allawzi M, Kandah MI. Parametric study of biodiesel production from used soybean oil. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 2008;110(8):760–7.
- [86] Dorado MP, Ballesteros E, Mittelbach M, Lopez FJ. Kinetic parameters affecting the alkali-catalyzed transesterification process of used olive oil. Energy Fuels 2004;18:1457–62.
- [87] Encinar JM, Gonzalez JF, Rodríguez-Reinares A. Biodiesel from used frying oil. Variables affecting the yields and characteristics of the biodiesel. Ind Eng Chem Res 2005;44:5491–9.
- [88] Dorado MP, Ballesteros E, Almeida JA, Schellet C, Lohrlein HP, Krause R. An alkali-catalyzed transesterification process for high free fatty acid oils. Trans ASAE 2002;45(3):525–9.
- [89] Cayh G, Küsefoğlu S. Increased yields in biodiesel production from used cooking oils by a two step process: comparison with one step process by TGA. Fuel Process Technol 2008;89:118–22.
- [90] Jordanov DI, Petkov PS, Dimitrov YK, Ivanov SK. Methanol transesterification of different vegetable oils. Pet Coal 2007;49(2):21–3.
- [91] Wang Y, Ou S, Liu P, Xue F, Tang S. Comparison of two different processes to synthesize biodiesel by waste cooking oil. Mol Catal A: Chem 2006;252:107–12.
- [92] Yusup S, Khan MA. Base catalyzed transesterification of acid treated vegetable oil blend for biodiesel production. Biomass Bioenergy 2010;34(10):1500–4.
- [93] Leung DYC, Guo Y. Transesterification of neat and used frying oil: optimization for biodiesel production. Fuel Process Technol 2006;87: 883–90.
- [94] Dias JM, Maria CM, Ferraz A, Almeida MF. Comparison of the performance of different homogeneous alkali catalysts during transesterification of waste and virgin oils and evaluation of biodiesel quality. Fuel 2008;87:3572–8.
- [95] Lotero E, Liu Y, Lopez DE, Suwannakarn K, Bruce DA, Goodwin Jr JG. Synthesis of biodiesel via acid catalysis. Ind Eng Chem Res 2005;44:5353-63.
- [96] Marchetti JM, Miguel VU, Errazu AF. Possible methods for biodiesel production. Renew Sust Energy Rev 2007;11:1300–11.
- [97] Zhang Y, Dubé MA, McLean DD, Kates M. Biodiesel production from waste cooking oil. 1. Process design and technological assessment. Bioresour Technol 2003;89:1–16.
- [98] Lertsathapornsuk V, Pairintra R, Ruangying P, Krisnangkur K. Continuous transethylation of vegetable oils by microwave irradiation. In: Proceedings of the 1st conference on energy network. Thailand RE11-RE14; 2005.
- [99] Ki-Teak L, Foglia TA. Production of alkyl ester as biodiesel from fractionated lard and restaurant grease. J Am Oil Chem Soc 2002;79(2):191-5.
- [100] Cvengros J, Cvengrosova Z. Used frying oils and fats and their utilization in the production of methyl esters of high fatty acids. Biomass Bioenergy 2004;27:173–81.
- [101] Dias JM, Alvim-Ferraz MCM, Almeida MF. Comparison of different homogeneous alkali catalysts during transesterification of waste and virgin oils and evaluation of biodiesel quality. Fuel 2008;87:3572–8.
- [102] Saifuddin N, Chua KH. Production of ethyl ester (biodiesel) from used frying oil: optimization of transesterification process using microwave irradiation. Malaysian J Chem 2004;6(1):77–82.
- [103] Mittelbach M, Koncar M. Method for the preparation of fatty acid alkyl esters. United States Patent 5849939. <a href="http://www.freepatentsonline.com/5849939.html">http://www.freepatentsonline.com/5849939.html</a>.
- [104] Turkay S, Civelekoglu H. Deacidification of sulfur olive oil. I. Single-stage liquid–liquid extraction of miscella with ethyl alcohol. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1991;68:83–6.
- [105] Dennis YCL, Xuan WU, Leung MKH. A review on biodiesel production using catalyzed transesterification. Appl Energy 2010;87:1083–95.
- [106] Di Serio M, Tesser R, Dimiccoli M, Cammarota F, Nasatasi M, Santacesaria E. Synthesis of biodiesel via homogeneous Lewis acid catalysts. J Mol Catal 2005;239:111–5.
- [107] Zhang Y, Lu XH, Yu YL, Ji JB. Study on the coupling process of catalytic esterification and extraction of high acid value waste oil with methanol. In: Zhuang X, editor. International conference on biomass energy technologies. Guangzhou, China; 2008.
- [108] Jeromin L, Peukert E, Wollmann G. Process for the pre-esterification of free fatty acids in raw fats and/or oils. Henkel, Kommanditgesellschaft Auf Aktien; 1990. <a href="http://www.freepatentsonline.com/EP0192035B1.html">http://www.freepatentsonline.com/EP0192035B1.html</a>>.
- [109] Shibasaki-Kitakawa N, Honda H, Kuribayashi H, Toda T, Fukumura T, Yonemoto T. Biodiesel production using anionic ion-exchange resin as heterogeneous catalyst. Bioresour Technol 2007;98:416–21.
- [110] Li C, Liu YH, Luo AX, Ruan RS, Liu CM. New two-step method of producing biodiesel from waster cooking oil. Cereals Oils Process 2008.
- [111] Van Gerpen J, Shanks B, Pruszko R, Clements D, Knothe G. Biodiesel production technology: August 2002–January 2004. Other information:

PBD: 1 July 2004; related information: work performed by Iowa State University, Renewable Products Development Laboratory, and USDA/NCAUR, 2004. Size: 110 p.

- [112] Freedman B, Pryde EH, Mounts TL. Variables affecting the yields of fatty esters from transesterified vegetable oils. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1984;61(10):1638–43.
- [113] Cerveró PJM, Coca J, Luque S. Production of biodiesel from vegetable oils. Grasas Aceites 2008;59(1):76–83.
- [114] Nye MJ, Williamson TW, Deshpande S, Schrader JH, Snively WH, Yurkewich TP, et al. Conversion of used frying oil to diesel fuel by transesterification: preliminary tests. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1983;60(8):1598–601.
- [115] Nestor Jr US, Venditti R, Argyropoulos DS. Biodiesel synthesis via homogeneous Lewis acid-catalyzed transesterification. Fuel 2009;88:560–5.
- [116] Abreu FR, Lima DG, Hamu EH, Wolf C, Suarez PAZ. Utilization of metal complexes as catalyst in the transesterification of Brazilian vegetable oils with different alcohols. J Mol Catal A: Chem 2004;209:29–33.
- [117] Freedman B, Butterfield RO, Pryde EH. Transesterification kinetics of soybean oil. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1986;63:1375–80.
- [118] Lepper H, Friesenhagen L. Process for the production of fatty acid esters of short-chain aliphatic alcohols from fats and/or oils containing free fatty acids. US Patent 4608202; 1986.
- [119] Watanabe Y, Shimada Y, Sugihara A, Tominaga Y. Enzymatic conversion of waste edible oil to biodiesel fuel in a fixed bed bioreactor. J Am Oil Chem Soc 2001;78:703–7.
- [120] Al-Widyan MI, Al-Shoukh AO. Experimental evaluation of the transesterification of waste palm oil into biodiesel. Bioresour Technol 2002;85:253–6.
- [121] Miao X, Li R, Yao H. Effective acide-catalyzed transesterification for biodiesel production. Energy Conserv Manage 2009;50:2680–4.
- [122] Fan X, Burton R, Austic G. Preparation and characterization of biodiesel produced from recycled canola oil. Open Fuels Energy Sci J 2009;2:113–8.
- [123] İssariyakul T, Kulkarni MG, Dalai AK, Bakhshi NN. Production of biodiesel from waste fryer grease using mixed methanol/ethanol system. Fuel Process Technol 2007;88(5):429–36.
- [124] Encinar JM, Juan F, Gonzalez JF, Rodriguez-Reinares A. Ethanolysis of used frying oils: biodiesel preparation and characterization. Fuel Process Technol 2007;88(5):513–22.
- [125] Cayli G, Küsefoglu S. Increased yields in biodiesel production from used cooking oils by a two step process: comparison with one step process by using TGA. Fuel Process Technol 2008;89(2):118–22.
- [126] Wan Omar WNN, Nordin N, Mohamed M, Amin NAS. A two-step biodiesel production from waste cooking oil: optimization of pre-treatment step. J Appl Sci 2009;9(17):3098–103.
- [127] Jain S, Sharma MP, Rajvanshi S. Acid base catalyzed transesterification kinetics of waste cooking oil. Fuel Process Technol 2011;92:32–8.
- [128] Guzatto R, Martini TLD, Samios D. The use of a modified TDSP for biodiesel production from soybean oil, linseed and waste cooking oil. Fuel Process Technol 2011;92:2083–8.
- [129] Thanh LT, Kenji O, Yasuhiro S, Norimichi T, Yasuaki M, Hiroshi B. A two step continuous ultrasound assisted production of biodiesel fuel from waste cooking oils: a practical and economical approach to produce high quality biodiesel fuel. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:5394–401.
- [130] Charoenchaitrakook M, Thienmethangkoon J. Statistical optimization for biodiesel production from waste frying oil through two-step catalyzed process. Fuel Process Technol 2011;92:112–8.
- [131] Van Gerpen J, Canakci M. Biodiesel production from oils and fats with high free fatty acids. Trans ASAE 2001;44(6):1429–36.
- [132] Lei H, Ding X, Zhang H, Chen X, Li Y, Zhang H, et al. In situ production of fatty acid methyl ester from low quality rice bran: an economical route for biodiesel production. Fuel 2010;89:1475–9.
- [133] Shiu PJ, Gunawan S, Hsieh WH, Kasim NS, Ju YH. Biodiesel production from rice bran by a two-step in-situ process. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:984–9.
- [134] Shuit SH, Lee KT, Kamaruddin AH, Yusup S. Reactive extraction and in-situ esterification of *Jatropha curcas* L. seeds for the production of biodiesel. Fuel 2010;89:527–30.
- [135] Haas MJ, Scott KM, Foglia TA, Marmer WN. The general applicability of in situ transesterification for the production of fatty acid esters from a variety of feedstocks. J Am Oil Chem Soc 2007;84:963–70.
- [136] Qian J, Wang F, Liu S, Yun Z. In situ alkaline transesterification of cottonseed oil for production of biodiesel and nontoxic cottonseed meal. Bioresour Technol 2008;99:9009–12.
- [137] Brito YC, Mello VM, Cesar C, Macedo CS, Meneghetti MR, Suarez AZ, et al. Fatty acid methyl esters preparation in the presence of maltolate and nbutoxide Ti(IV) and Zr(IV) complexes. Appl Catal A: Gen 2008;351:24–8.
- [138] Islon AP, MacRae AR, Smith CG, Bosley J. Mass transfer effects in solvent free intersterification reactions – influences on catalyst design. Biotechnol Bioenergy 1994;43:122–30.
- [139] Dalai AKMG, Meher LC. Biodiesel productions from vegetable oils using heterogeneous catalysts and their applications as lubricity additives. In: IEEE EIC climate change technology conference; 2006 [EICCCC art 4057358].
- [140] Miao S, Shanks BH. Esterification of biomass pyrolysis model acids over sulfonic acid – modified mesoporous silicas. Appl Catal A 2009;359: 113–20.
- [141] Marchetti JM, Errazu AF. Comparison of different heterogeneous catalysts and different alcohols for the esterification reaction of oleic acid. Fuel 2008;87:3477–80.

- [142] Furuta S, Matsuhashi H, Arata K. Biodiesel fuel production with solid amorphous-zirconia catalysis in fixed bed reactor. Biomass Bioenergy 2006;30:870–3.
- [143] Park YM, Lee Dw, Kim DK, Lee J, Lee KY. The heterogeneous catalyst system for the continuous conversion of free fatty acids in used vegetable oils for the production of biodiesel. Catal Today 2008;131:238–43.
- [144] Sakai T, Kawashima A, Koshikawa T. Economic assessment of batch biodiesel production processes using homogeneous and heterogeneous alkali catalysts. Bioresour Technol 2009;100:3268–76.
- [145] Holser Ronald A, DollKenneth M, ErhanSevim Z. Metathesis of methyl soyate with ruthenium catalysts. Fuel 2006;85:393–5.
- [146] Alba-Rubio AC, Vila F, Alonso DM, Ojeda M, Mariscal R, Granados ML. Deactivation of organosulfonic acid functionalized silica catalysts during biodiesel synthesis. Appl Catal B: Environ 2010;95:279–87.
- [147] Sreeprasanth PS, Srivastava R, Srinivas D, Ratnasamy P. Hydrophobic, solid acid catalysts for production of biofuels and lubricants. Appl Catal A: Gen 2006;314:148–59.
- [148] Antunes WM, Veloso CO, Henriques CA. Transesterification of soybean oil with methanol catalyzed by basic solids. Catal Today 2008;133–135:548–54.
- [149] Umdu ES, Tuncer M, Seker E. Transesterification of nannochloropsis oculata microalgas lipid biodiesel on Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> supported CaO and MgO catalysts. Bioresour Technol 2009;100:2828–31.
- [150] McNeff CV, McNeff LC, Yan B, Nowlan DT, Rasmussen M, Gyberg AE, et al. A continuous catalytic system for biodiesel production. Appl Catal A: Gen 2008;343:39–48.
- [151] Xu L, Yang X, Yu X, Guo Y, Maynurkader. Preparation of mesoporous polyoxometalate-tantalum pentoxide composite catalyst for efficient esterification of fatty acid. Catal Commun 2008;9:1607–11.
- [152] Boz N, Degirmenbasi N, Kalyon DM. Conversion of biomass to fuel: transesterification of vegetable oil to biodiesel using KF loaded nano-g-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> as catalyst. Appl Catal B: Environ 2009;89:590–6.
- [153] Noiroj K, Intarapong P, Luengnaruemitchai A, Jai-In S. A comparative study of KOH/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and KOH/NaY catalysts for biodiesel production via transesterification from palm oil. Renew Energy 2009;34:1145–50.
- [154] Guo C, Baishan F. Preperation of solid acid catalyst from glucose starch mixture for biodieselprouduction. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:2635–40.
- [155] Ilgen O. Dolomite as a heterogeneous catalyst for transesterification of canola oil. Fuel Process Technol 2011;92:452–5.
- [156] Wang L, Yang J. Transesterification of soybean oil with nano-MgO or not in supercritical and subcritical methanol. Fuel 2007;86:328-33.
- [157] Lopez DE, Bruce Jr DA, Lotero JGE. Transesterification of triacetin with methanol on solid acid and base catalysts. Appl Catal A: Gen 2005;295:97–105.
- [158] Yoo SJ, Lee HS, Bambang V, Kim J, Kim JD, Lee YW. Synthesis of biodiesel from rapeseed oil using supercritical methanol with metal oxide catalysts. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:8686–9.
- [159] Ebiura T, Echizen T, Ishikawa A, Kazuhito M, Baba T. Selective transesterification of triolein with methanol to methyl oleate and glycerol using alumina loaded with alkali metal salt as a solid-base catalyst. Appl Catal A: Gen 2005;283:111–6.
- [160] Arzamendi G, Campoa I, Arguinarena E, Sanchez M, Montes M, Gandia LM. Synthesis of biodiesel with heterogeneous NaOH/alumina catalysts: comparison with homogeneous NaOH. J Chem Eng 2007;134:123–30.
- [161] Deka DC, Basumatary S, Lee JS. High quality biodiesel from yellow oleander (*Thevetia peruviana*) seed oil. Biomass Bioenergy 2011;305:1797–803.
- [162] Chakraborty R, Bepari S, Banerjee A. Application of calcined waste fish (*Labeo rohita*) scale as low-cost heterogeneous catalyst for biodiesel synthesis. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:3610–8.
- [163] Shu Q, Gao J, Nawaz Z, Liao Y, Wang D, Wang J. Synthesis of biodiesel from waste vegetable oil with large amounts of free fatty acids using a carbon based solid acid catalyst. Appl Energy 2010;87:2589–96.
- [164] Dehkhoda AM, West AH, Ellis N. Biochar based solid acid catalyst for biodiesel production. Appl Catal A: Gen 2010;382:197–204.
- [165] Hama S, Yamaji H, Kaieda M, Oda M, Kondo A, Fukuda H. Effect of fatty acid membrane composition on whole-cell biocatalysts for biodiesel-fuel production. J Biochem Eng 2004;21:155–60.
- [166] Du W, Xu Y, Liu D, Zeng J. Comparative study on lipase-catalyzed transformation of soybean oil for biodiesel production with different acyl acceptors. J Mol Catal B: Enzym 2004;30:125–9.
- [167] Wang Y, Ou S, Liu P, Zhang Z. Preparation of biodiesel from waste cooking oil via two-step catalyzed process. Energy Convers Manage 2007;48:184–8.
- [168] Cao F, Chen Y, Zhai F, Li J, Wang J, Wang Z, et al. Biodiesel production from high acid value waste frying oil catalyzed by superacid heteropolyacid. Biotechnol Bioenergy 2008;101(1):93–100.
- [169] Kulkarni MG, Gopinath R, Meher LC, Dalai AK. Green Chem 2006;8:1056. [170] Komintarachat C, Chuepeng S. Solid acid catalyst for biodiesel production
- from waste used cooking oils. Am Chem Soc 2009;48:9350–3. [171] Ramachandran K, Sivakumar P, Suganya T, Renganathan S. Production of biodiesel from mixed waste vegetable oil using an aluminium hydrogen sulphate as a heterogeneous acid catalyst. Bioresour Technol
- [172] Feng Y, He B, Cao B, Li J, Liu M, Yna F, et al. Biodiesel production using cation exchange resin as heterogenous catalyst. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:1518–21.

2011:102:7289-93.

[173] Chen G, Fang B. Preparation of solid acid catalyst from glucose-starch mixture for biodiesel production. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:2635–40.

- [174] Corro G, Tellez N, Ayala E, Marinez-Ayala A. Two-step biodiesel production from *Jatropha curcas* crude oil using SiO<sub>2</sub>: HF solid catalyst for FFA esterification step. Fuel 2010;89:2815–21.
- [175] Zhu M, He B, Shi W, Yaohui FJD, Li J, Zeng F. Preparation and characterization of PSSA/PVA catalytic membrane for biodiesel production. Fuel 2010;89:2299–304.
- [176] Lam MK, Lee KT. Mixed methanol-ethanol technology to produce greener biodiesel from waste cooking oil: a breakthrough for SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>/SnO<sub>2</sub> - SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. Fuel Process Technol 2011;92:1639–45.
- [177] Olutoye MA, Hameed BH. Synthesis of fatty acid methyl ester from used vegetable cooking oil by solid reusable MG<sub>1-x</sub>Zn<sub>1+x</sub>O<sub>2</sub> catalyst. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:3819–26.
- [178] Park YM, Chung S, Eom HJ, Lee J, Lee K. Tungsten oxide zirconia as solid superacid catalyst for esterification of waste acid oil (dark oil). Bioresour Technol 2010;101:6589–93.
- [179] Alsalme A, Kozhevnikova EF, Kozhevnikov IV. Heteropoly acids as catalysts for liquid-phase esterification and transesterification. Appl Catal A: Gen 2008;349:170–6.
- [180] Raita M, Champreda V, Laosiripojana N. Biocatalytic ethanolysis of palm oil for biodiesel production using microcrystalline lipase in tert-butanol system. Process Biochem 2010;45:829–34.
- [181] Kolaczkowski ST, Asli UA, Davidson MG. A new heterogeneous ZnL2 catalyst on a structured support for biodiesel production. Catal Today 2009;147S:S220-4.
- [182] Meher LC, Kulkarni MG, Dalai AK, Naik SN. Transesterification of karanja (*Pongamia pinnata*) oil by solid basic catalysts. J Lipid Sci Technol 2006;108:389–97.
- [183] Li Y, Lian S, Tong D, Song R, Yang W, Fan Y, et al. One-step production of biodiesel from Nannochloropsis sp. On solid base Mg–Zr catalyst. Appl Energy 2011;88:3313–7.
- [184] Hu S, Guan Y, Wang Y, Han H. Nano-magnetic catalyst KF/CaO-Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> for biodiesel production. Appl Energy 2011;88:2685–90.
- [185] tang Y, Meng M, Zhang J, Lu Y. Efficient preparation of biodiesel from rapeseed oil over modified CaO. Appl Energy 2011;88:2735–9.
- [186] Li X, Lu G, Guo YL, Wang YQ, Zhang ZG, Liu XH, et al. A novel solid superbase of Eu<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and its catalytic performance for the transesterification of soybean oil to biodiesel. Catal Commun 2007;8:1969–72.
- [187] Shu Q, Yang BL, Yuan H, Qing S, Zhu GL. Synthesis of biodiesel from soybean oil and methanol catalyzed by zeolite beta modified with La<sup>3+</sup>. Catal Commun 2007;8:2158–64.
- [188] Xie WL, Li HT. Alumina-supported potassium iodide as a heterogeneous catalyst for biodiesel production from soybean oil. Catal A: Chem 2006;255:1–9.
- [189] Kim HJ, Kang BS, Kim MJ, Park UM, Kim DK, Lee JS. Transesterification of vegetable oil to biodiesel using heterogeneous base catalyst. Catal Today 2004;93:315–20.
- [190] Guo F, Peng ZG, Dai JY, Xiu ZL. Calcined sodium silicate as solid base catalyst for biodiesel production. Fuel Process Technol 2010;91:322–8.
- [191] Kondamudi N, Mohapatra SK, Misra M. Quintinite as a bifunctional heterogeneous catalyst for biodiesel synthesis. Appl Catal A: Gen 2011;393:36–43.
- [192] Chung KH, Chang DR, Park BG. Removal of free fatty acid in waste frying oil by esterification with methanol on zeolite catalysts. Bioresour Technol 2008;99:7438–43.
- [193] Serio MD, Ledda M, Cozzolino M, Minutillo G, Tesser R, Santacesaria E. Transesterification of soybean oil to biodiesel by using heterogeneous basic catalysts. Ind Eng Chem Res 2006;45:3009–14.
- [194] Vyas AP, Subrahmanyam N, Patel PA. Production of biodiesel through transesterification of Jatropha oil using KNO<sub>3</sub>/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> solid catalyst. Fuel 2009;88:625–8.
- [195] Kansedo J, Lee KT, Bhatia S. Biodiesel production from palm oil via heterogeneous transesterification. Biomass Bioenergy 2009;33:271–6.
- [196] Di Serio M, Tesser R, Pengmei L, Santacesaria E. Heterogeneous catalysts for biodiesel production. Energy Fuels 2008;22:207–17.
- [197] Tateno T, Sasaki T. Process for producing fatty acid fuels comprising fatty acids esters. Uni. State Patent 6818026, November 16, 2004.
- [198] Vujicic DJ, Comic D, Zarubica A, Micic R, Boskovic G. Kinetics of biodiesel synthesis from sunflower oil over CaO heterogeneous catalyst. Fuel 2010;89:2054–61.
- [199] Liu R, Wang X, Zhao X, Feng P. Sulfonated ordered mesoporous carbon for catalytic preparation of biodiesel. Carbon 2008;46:1664–9.
- [200] Viriya-empikul N, Krasae P, Puttasawat B, Yoosuk B, Chollacoop N, Faungnawakij K. Waste shells of mollusk and egg as biodiesel production catalysts. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:3765–7.
- [201] Kiss AA. Biodiesel by reactive absorption towards green technologies. ESCAPE19; 2009. p. 847–52.
- [202] Suppes GJ, Dasari MA, Doskocil EJ, Mankidy PJ, Goff MJ. Transesterification of soybean oil with zeolite and metal catalysts. Appl Catal A: Gen 2004;257:213–23.
- [203] Furuta S, Matsuhashi H, Arata K. Biodiesel fuel production with solid superacid catalysis in fixed bed reactor under atmospheric pressure. Catal Commun 2004;5:721–3.
- [204] Mbaraka IK, Shanks BH. Conversion of oils and fats using advanced mesoporous heterogeneous catalysts. J Am Oil Chem Soc 2006;83:79–91.

- [205] Dossin TF, Reyniers MF, Berger RJ, Marin GB. Simulation of heterogeneously MgO-catalyzed transesterification for fine-chemical and biodiesel industrial production. Appl Catal B: Gen 2006;67:136–48.
- [206] Zabeti M, Daud WMAW, Aroua MK. Activity of solid catalysts for biodiesel production: a review. Fuel Process Technol 2009;90:770–7.
- [207] Bournay L, Casanave D, Delfort B, Hillion G, Chodorge JA. New heterogeneous process for biodiesel production: a way to improve the quality and the value of the crude glycerin produced by biodiesel plants. Catal Today 2005;106:190-2.
- [208] Bournay L, Hillion G, Boucot P, Chodorge J-A, Bronner C, Forestiere A. US Patent 6878837; 2005.
- [209] Kouzu M, Hidaka J. Transesterification of vegetable oil into biodiesel catalyzed CaO: a review. Fuel 2012;93:1–12.
- [210] Kouzu M, Hidaka J, Komichi Y, Nakano H, Yamamoto M. A process to transesterify vegetable oil with methanol in the presence of quick lime bit functioning as solid base catalyst. Fuel 2009;88:1983–90.
- [211] Yan S, DiMaggio C, Mohan S, Kim M, Salley SO, Ng KYS. Advancements in heterogeneous catalysis for biodiesel synthesis. Top Catal 2010;53:721–36.
- [212] Rattanaphra D, Harvey AP, Thanapimmetha A, Srinophakun P. Kinetic of myristic acid esterification with methanol in the presence of triglycerides over sulfated zirconia. Renew Energy 2011;36:2679–86.
- [213] Yadav GD, Nair JJ. Sulfated zirconia and its modified versions as promising catalysts for industrial processes. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 1999;33:1–48.
- [214] Brei VV. Superacids based on zirconium dioxide. Theor Exp Chem 2005;41:165–75.
- [215] Rongxian B, Yisheng T, Yizhuo H. Study on the carbon dioxide hydrogenation to iso-alkanes over Fe-Zn-M/zeolite composite catalysts. Fuel Process Technol 2004;86:293-301.
- [216] Lou WY, Zong MH, Duan ZQ. Efficient production of biodiesel from high free fatty acid-containing waste oils using various carbohydrate-derived solid acid catalysts. Bioresour Technol 2008;99:8752–8.
- [217] Yan S, Salley SO, Ng KYS. Simultaneous transesterification and esterification of unrefined or waste oils over ZnO-La<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst. Appl Cat A: Gen 2009;353:203-12.
- [218] Yan S, Salley SO, Ng KYS. US Patent 20090307966; 2009.
- [219] Shimada Y, Watanabe Y, Sugihara A, Tominaga Y. Enzymatic alcoholysis for biodiesel fuel production and application of the reaction oil processing. J Mol Catal B: Enzym 2002;17:133–42.
- [220] Robles-Medina A, Gonzalez-Moreno PA, Esteban-Cerdan L, Molina-Grima E. Biocatalysis: towards ever greener biodiesel production. Biotechnol Adv 2009;27:398–408.
- [221] Hsu A, Jones KC, Marmer WN. Production of alkyl esters from tallow and grease using lipase immobilized in pyllosilicate sol-gel. J Am Oil Chem Soc 2001;78(6):585-8.
- [222] Ranganathan SV, Narasimhan SL, Muthukumar K. An overview of enzymatic production of biodiesel. Bioresour Technol 2008;99:3975–81.
- [223] Vasudevan PT, Briggs M. Biodiesel production-current state of the art and challenges. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 2008;35:421–30.
- [224] Yagiz F, Kazan D, Akin AN. Biodiesel production from waste oils by using lipase immobilized on hydrotalcite and zeolites. J Chem Eng 2007;134:262–7.
- [225] Chen Y, Xiao B, Chang J, Fu Y, Lv P, Wang X. Synthesis of biodiesel from waste cooking oil using immobilized lipase in fixed bed reactor. Energy Convers Manage 2009;50:668–73.
- [226] Kaieda M, Samukawa T, Kondo A, Fukuda H. Effect of methanol and water contents on production of biodiesel fuel from plant oil catalyzed by various lipases in a solvent-free system. J Biosci Bioeng 2001;91:12–5.
- [227] Noureddini H, Gao X, Philkana RS. Immobilized Pseudomonas cepacia lipase for biodiesel fuel production from soybean oil. Bioresour Technol 2005;96:769–77.
- [228] Kaieda M, Samukawa T, Matsumoto T, Ban K, Kondo A, Shimada Y, et al. Biodiesel fuel production from plant oil catalyzed by *Rhizopus oryzae* lipase in a water-containing system without an organic solvent. J Biosci Bioeng 1999;1999(88):627–31.
- [229] Shimada Y, Watanabe Y, Samukawa T, Sugihara A, Noda H, Fukuda H, et al. Conversion of vegetable oil biodiesel using immobilized *Candida antarctica* lipase. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1999;76:789–93.
- [230] Li Q, Yan Y. Production of biodiesel catalyzed by immobilized Pseudomonas lipase from sapium sebiferum oil in micro-aqueous phase. Appl Energy 2010;87:3148–54.
- [231] Tweddell RJ, Kermasha S, Combes D, Marty A. Esterifi cation and interesterifi cation activities of lipase from *Rhizopus niveus* and *Mucor miehei* in three different types of organic media: a comparitive study. Ezyme Microb. Technol. 1998;22:439–45.
- [232] Al-Zuhair S, Hasan M, Ramachandran KB. Kinetic hydrolysis of palm oil using lipase. Process Biochem 2003;38:1155–63.
- [233] Sheedlo M. A review of the processes of biodiesel production. Basic Biotechnol E - J 2008;4:61-5.
- [234] Bjorkling F, Godtfredsen SE, Kirk O. The future impact of industrial lipases. Trends Biotechnol 1991;9:360–3.
- [235] Knezevic ZD, Siler-Marinkovic SS, Mojovic LV. Kinetics of lipasecatalyzed hydrolysis of palm oil in lecinthin/isooctane reversed micelles. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1998;49:267–71.

- [236] Shamel MM, Ramachandran KB, Hasan M. Effect of hollow fiber membrane material and operating conditions on lipase adsorption. IMSTEC '03, The fifth international membrane science & technology conference 2003. Australia 2003.
- [237] Tan T, Lu J, Nie K, Deng L, Wang F. Biodiesel production with immobilized lipase: a review. Biotechnol Adv 2010;28:628–34.
- [238] Samukawa T, Kaieda M, Matsumoto T, Ban K, Kondo A, Shimada Y, et al. Pretreatment of immobilized *Candida antarctica* lipase for biodiesel fuel production from plant oil. J Biosci Bioeng 2000;90:180–3.
- [239] Hilal N, Kochkodan V, Nigmatullin R, Goncharuk V, Al-Khatib L. Lipaseimmobilized biocatalytic membranes for enzymatic esterification: comparison of various approaches to membrane preparation. J Membr Sci 2006;268:198–207.
- [240] Hilal N, Nigmatullin R, Alpatova A. Immobilization of cross linked lipase aggregates with in micro porous polymeric membranes. J Membr Sci 2004;238:131.
- [241] Shamel MM, Ramachandran KB, Hasan M, Al-Zuhair S. Hydrolysis of palm and olive oils by immobilized lipase using hollow-fibre reactor. Biochem Eng J 2007;34:228–35.
- [242] Chen JP, Lin YS. Sol-gel powders and supported sol-gel polymers for immobilization of lipase in ester synthesis. Enzyme Microb Technol 2003;32:801-11.
- [243] Vidinha P, Augusto V, Almeida M, Fonseca I, Fidalgo A, Ilharco L, et al. Sol-gel encapsulation: an efficient and versatile immobilization technique for cutinase in non-aqueous media. J. Biotechnol. 2006;121:23–33.
- [244] Isono Y, Nakajima M, Nabetani H. Solvent-free esterification of oleic acid and oleyl alcohol using membrane reactor and lipase-surfactant complex. J Ferment Bioeng 1998;86:138–40.
- [245] Shamel MM, Al-Zuhair S, Azaha R. Adsorption of lipase on hollow fibre membrane chips. Int J Art Cells, Blood Substitutes Biotechnol 2005;33:423–33.
- [246] Mittelbach M. Lipase catalyzed alcoholysis of sunflower oil. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1990;67:168–70.
- [247] Nelson LA, Fogila TA, Marmer WN. Lipase-catalyzed production of biodiesel. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1996;73(8):1191–5.
- [248] Abigor R, Uadia P, Fogila T, Haas M, Jones K, Okpafa E, et al. Lipase-catalyzed production of biodiesel fuel from some Nigerian lauric oils. Biochem Soc Trans 2000;28:979–81.
- [249] Noureddini H, Gao X, Phikana RS. Immobilized Pseudomonas cepacia lipase for biodiesel fuel production from soybean oil. Bioresour Technol 2001;96:767–77.
- [250] Iso M, Chen B, Eguchi M, Kudo T, Shrestha S. Production of biodiesel fuel from triglycerides and alcohol using immobilized lipase. J Mol Catal B: Enzym 2001;16:53–8.
- [251] Al-Zuhair S, Almenhali A, Hamsd I, Alshehhi M, Alsuwaidi N, Mohamed S. Enzymatic production of biodiesel from used/waste vegetable oils: design of a pilot plant. Renew Energy 2011;36:2605–14.
- [252] Rodrigues AR, Paiva A, da Silva MG, Simões P, Barreiros S. Continuous enzymatic production of biodiesel from virgin and waste sunflower oil in super critical carbon dioxide. J Supercrit Fluids 2011;56:259–64.
- [253] Watanabe Y, Shimada Y, Sugihara A, Noda H, Fukuda H, Tominaga Y. Continuous production of biodiesel fuel from vegetable oil using immobilized *Candida antarctia* lipase. J Am Oil Chem Soc 2000;77:355–60.
- [254] Bako KB, Kova FCS, Gubicza L, Hansco JK. Enzymatic biodiesel production from sunflower oil by *candida antractica* lipase in a solvent free system. Biocatal Biotransform 2002;20:437–9.
- [255] Wei D, Yuanyuan X, Dehua L, Jing Z. Comparative study on lipasecatalyzed transformation of soybean oil for biodiesel production with different acyl acceptors. J Mol Catal B: Enzym 2004;30:125–9.
- [256] Xu Y, Du W, Zeng J, Liu D. Conversion of soybean oil to biodiesel fuel using lipozyme TL IM in asolvent free medium. Biocatal Biotransform 2004;22:45–8.
- [257] Li L, Du W, Liu D, Wang L, Li Z. Lipase-catalyzed transesterification of rapeseed oils for biodiesel production with a novel organic solvent as the reaction medium. J Mol Catal B: Enzym 2006;43:58–62.
- [258] Royon D, Daz M, Ellenrieder G, Locatelli S. Enzymatic production of biodiesel from cotton seed oil using t-butanol as a solvent. Bioresour Technol 2007;98:648–53.
- [259] Modi MK, Reddy JRC, Rao BVSK, Prasad RBN. Lipase mediated conversion of vegetable oils into biodiesel using ethyl acetate. Bioresour Technol 2007;98:1260–4.
- [260] Chang HM, Liao HF, Lee CC, Shieh CJ. Optimised synthesis of lipase-catalyzed biodiesel by Novozym 435. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2005;80:307–12.
- [261] Lai CC, Zullaikah S, Vali SR, Ju YH. Lipase-catalyzed production of biodiesel from rice bran oil. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2005;80:331–7.
- [262] Sanchez F, Vasudevan PT. Enzyme catalyzed production of biodiesel from olive oil. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 2006;135:1–14.
- [263] Ban K, Kaieda M, Matsumoto T, Kondo A, Fukuda H. Whole-cell biocatalyst for biodiesel fuel production utilizing *Rhizopus oryzae* cells immobilized within biomass support particles. Biochem Eng 2001;8:39–43.
- [264] Hama S, Yamaji H, Fukumizu T, Numata T, Tamalampudi S, Kondo A, et al. Biodiesel fuel production in a packed-bed reactor using lipase-production *Rhizopus oryzae* cells immobilized within biomass support particles. Biochem Eng J 2007;34:273–8.
- [265] Shah S, Gupta MN. Lipase catalyzed preparation of biodiesel from Jatropha oil in a solvent free system. Process Biochem 2006;42:409–13.

- [266] Al-Zuhair S, Jayaraman KV, Krishnan S, Chan YH. The effect of fatty acid concentration and water content on the production of biodiesel by lipase. Biochem Eng J 2006;30:212–7.
- [267] Mamoru I, Chen BX, Masashi E, Takashi K, Surekha S. Production of biodiesel fuel from triglycerides and alcohol using immobilized lipase. J Mol Catal B: Enzym 2001;16:53–8.
- [268] Orcaire O, Buisson P, Pierre AC. Application of silica aerogel encapsulated lipase in the synthesis of biodiesel by transesterification reactions. J Mol Catal B: Enzym 2006;42:106–13.
- [269] Niza NM, Tan KT, Lee KT, Ahmad Z. Biodiesel production by non-catalytic supercritical methyl acetate: thermal stability study. Appl Energy 2013;101:198–202.
- [270] Saka S, Kusdiana D. Biodiesel fuel from rapeseed oil as prepared in supercritical methanol. Fuel 2001;80:225–31.
- [271] Han HW, Cao WL, Zhang JC. Preparation of biodiesel from soybean oil using supercritical methanol and CO<sub>2</sub> as co-solvent. Process Biochem 2005;40:3148–51.
- [272] Demirbas A. Biodiesel from sunflower oil in supercritical methanol with calcium oxide. Energy Convers Manage 2007;48:937–41.
- [273] Jian-Zhong Y, Min X, Ji-Bin S. Biodiesel from soybean oil in supercritical methanol with co-solvent. Energ Convers Manage 2008;49:908–12.
- [274] Cao WL, Han HW, Zhang JC. Preparation of biodiesel from soybean oil using supercritical methanol and co-solvent. Fuel 2005;84(4):347–51.
- [275] BIOX Process. <www.bioxcorp.com> [accessed December 2008].
- [276] Demirbas A. Biodiesel from waste cooking oil via base-catalytic and supercritical methanol transesterification. Energy Convers Manage 2009;50:923-7.
- [277] Tan KT, Lee KT, Mohamed AR. Potential of waste palm cooking oil for catalyst free biodiesel production. Energy 2011;36:2085–8.
- [278] Kiss AA, Dimian AC, Rothenberg G. Biodiesel production by integrated reactive-separation design. In: 17th European symposium on computer aided, Process Engineering – ESCAPE17; 2007.
- [279] Perry RH, Green DW, Maloney JO. Perry's chemical engineers handbook. 7th ed. NY: McGraw-Hill; 1997. p. 81 [section 13: distillation].
- [280] Da Silva ND, Santander CMG, Batistella CB, Filho RM, Maciel MRW. Biodiesel production from integration between reaction and separation system: reactive distillation process. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 2010;161:245–54.
- [281] Tuchlenski A, Beckmann A, Reusch D, Düssel R, Weidlich U, Janowsky R. Chem Eng Sci 2001;56:387–94.
- [282] Taylor R, Krishna R. Modeling reactive distillation. Chem Eng Sci 2000;55:5183-229.
- [283] Wang J, Ge X, Wang Z, Jin Y. Experimental studies on the catalytic distillation for hydrolysis of methyl acetate. Chem Eng Technol 2001;24(2):155–9.
- [284] Lai I, Liu Y, Yu CC, Lee M, Huang HP. Production of high-purity ethyl acetate using reactive distillation: experimental and start-up procedure. Chem Eng Process 2008;47:1831–43.
- [285] He BB, Singh AP, Thompson JC. A novel continuous-flow reactor using reactive distillation for biodiesel production. Trans ASAE 2006;49:107–12.
- [286] Smith Jr LA. Catalytic distillation process. US Patent; 1980a;4:232,177.
- [287] Agreda VH, Partin LR, Heise WH. High purity methyl acetate via reactive distillation. Chem Eng Prog 1990;2:40.
- [288] Smith Jr LA, Huddleston MN. New MTBE design now commercial. Hydrocarbon Process 1982;61(3):121.
- [289] Dimian AC, Bildea CS, Omota F, Kiss AA. Innovative process for fatty acid esters by dual reactive distillation. Comput Chem Eng 2009;33:743–50.
- [290] Dimian AC, Omota F, Kiss AA. Process for fatty acid methyl esters by dual reactive distillation. In: 17th European symposium on computer aided, process engineering – ESCAPE17; 2007.
- [291] Kiss AA, Dimian AC, Rothenberg G. Biodiesel production by heat-integrated reactive distillation. Comput Aided Chem Eng 2008;25:775–80.
- [292] Kiss AA, Dimian AC, Rothenberg G. Solid acid catalysts for biodiesel production-towards sustainable energy. Adv Synth Catal 2006;348: 75–81.
- [293] Okuhara T. Water-tolerant solid acid catalysts. Chem Rev 2002;102: 3641–66.
- [294] Kiss AA, Dimian AC, Rothenberg G. Biodiesel by reactive distillation powered by metal oxides. Energy Fuels 2008;22:598–604.
- [295] Omota F, Dimian AC, Bliek A. Fatty acid esterification by reactive distillation. Part 1: Equilibrium-based design. Chem Eng Sci 2003;58:3159–74.
- [296] Dimian AC, Omota F, Bliek A. Entrainer-enhanced reactive distillation. Chem Eng Proc 2004;43:411–20.
- [297] Kiss AA. Novel process for biodiesel by reactive absorption. Sep Purif Technol 2009;69:280–7.
- [298] Kiss AA, Bildea CS. Integrated reactive absorption process for synthesis of fatty esters. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:490–8.
- [299] Chen YH, Huang YH, Lin RH, Shang NC. A continuous-flow biodiesel production process using a rotating packed bed. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:668–73.
- [300] Lin CC, Liu WT, Tan CS. Removal of carbon dioxide by absorption in a rotating packed bed. Ind Eng Chem Res 2003;11:2381–6.
- [301] Chen YH, Chang CV, Su WL, Chen CC, Chiu CY, Yu YH, et al. Chiang Sally IM. Modeling ozone contacting process in a rotating packed bed. Ind Eng Chem Res 2004;43:228–36.
- [302] Chen YS, Hsu YC, Lin CC, Tai CY, Clifford YD, Liu HS. Volatile organic compounds absorption in a cross-flow rotating packed bed. Environ Sci Technol 2008;42:2631–6.

- [303] Ramshaw C. Higee distillation an example of process intensification. Chem Eng 1983;2:13–4.
- [304] Kelleher Y, Fair JR. Distillation studies in a high-gravity contactor. Ind Eng Chem Res 1996;12:4646–55.
- [305] Singh SP, Wilson JH, Counce RM, Villiers-Fisher JF, Jennings HL, Lucero AJ, et al. Removal of volatile organic compounds from groundwater using a rotary air stripper. Ind Eng Chem Res 1992;31:574–80.
- [306] Liu HS, Lin CC, Wu SC, Hsu HW. Characteristic of a rotating packed bed. Ind Eng Chem Res 1996;35:2596–3590.
- [307] Lin CC, Liu WT. Ozone oxidation in a rotating packed bed. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2003;78:138-41.
- [308] Chang CC, Chiu CY, Chang CY, Chang CF, Chen YH, Ji DR, et al. Pt-catalyzed ozonation of aqueous phenol solution using high-gravity rotating packed bed. J Hazard Mater 2009;168:649–55.
- [309] Chang CC, Chiu CY, Chang CY, Chang CF, Chen YH, Ji DR, et al. Combined photolysis and catalytic ozonation of dimethyl phthalate in a high-gravity rotating packed bed. J Hazard Mater 2009;161:287–93.
- [310] Chen YH, Chang CY, Su WL, Chiu CY, Yu YH, Chiang PC, et al. Ozonation of CI reactive black 5 using rotating packed bed and stirred tank reactor. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2005;80:68–75.
- [311] Chen YH, Chiu CY, Chang CY, Huang YH, Yu YH, Chiang PC, et al. Modeling ozonation process with pollutant in a rotating packed bed. Ind Eng Chem Res 2005;44:21–9.
- [312] Yang HJ, Chu GW, Xiang Y, Chen JF. Characterization of micromixing efficiency in rotating packed beds by chemical methods. Chem Eng J 2006;121:147–52.
- [313] Yang HJ, Chu GW, Zhang JW, Shen ZG, Chen JF. Micromixing efficiency in a rotating packed bed: experiments and simulation. Ind Eng Chem Res 2005;44:7730–7.
- [314] Zhao RH, Li CP, Guo F, Chen JF. Scale-up preparation of organized mesoporous alumina in a rotating packed bed. Ind Eng Chem Res 2007;46: 3317–20.
- [315] Komers K, Skopal F, Cegan A. Continuous biodiesel production in a cascade of flow ideally stirred reactors. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:3772–5.
- [316] Halim SFA, Kamaruddin AH, Fernando WJN. Continuous biosynthesis of biodiesel from waste cooking palm oil in a packed bed reactor: optimization using response surface methodology (RSM) and mass transfer studies. Bioresour Technol 2009;100:710–6.
- [317] Noureddini H, Harkey D, Medikonduru V. A continuous process for the conversion of vegetable oils into methyl esters of fatty acids. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1998;75:1775–83.
- [318] Darnoko D, Cheryan M. Continuous production of palm methyl esters. J Am Oil Chem Soc 2000;77:1269–72.
- [319] He BB, Singh AP, Thompson JC. Experimental optimization of a continuousflow reactive distillation reactor for biodiesel production. Trans ASAE 2005;48:2237–43.
- [320] Barnard TM, Nicholas EL, Matthew BB, Lauren MS, Benjamin AW. Continuousflow preparation of biodiesel using microwave heating. Energy Fuel 2007;21:1777–81.
- [321] Stavarache C, Vinatoru M, Maeda Y, Bandow H. Ultrasonically driven continuous process for vegetable oil transesterification. Ultrason Sonochem 2007;14:413–7.
- [322] Wen Z, Yu X, Tu ST, Yan J, Dahlquist E. Intensification of biodiesel synthesis using zigzag micro-channel reactors. Bioresour Technol 2009;100:3054-60.
- [323] Saleh J, Tremblay AY, Dube' MA. Glycerol removal from biodiesel using membrane separation technology. Fuel 2010;89:2260–6.
   [324] Karaosmanoglu F, Cigizoglu KB, Tuter M, Ertekin S. Investigation of the
- [324] Karaosmanoglu F, Cigizoglu KB, Tuter M, Ertekin S. Investigation of the refining step of biodiesel production. Energy Fuels 1996;10:890–5.
- [325] Bam N, Drown DC, Korou R, Hoffman DS, Johnson TG, Washam JM. Method for purifying alcohol esters. US Patent No. 1995;5:424,467, June 13.
- [326] Hayafuji S, Shimidzu T, Oh S, Zaima H. Method and apparatus for producing diesel fuel oil from waste edible oil. US Patent No. 1999;5:972,057, October 26.
- [327] Kim IC, Kim JH, Lee KH, Tak TM. Preparation and properties of soluble copolysulfoneimide and performance of solvent-resistant ultrafiltration membrane. J Appl Polym Sci 2002;85:1024–30.
- [328] White LS, Nitsch AR. Solvent recovery from lube oil filtrates with a polyimide membrane. J Membr Sci 2000;179:267–74.
- [329] Saracco G, Versteeg GF, Van Swaajj WPM. Current hurdles to the success of high temperature membrane reactors. J Membr Sci 1994;95:105–23.
- [330] Saracco G, Neomagus HWJP, Versteeg GF, van Swaaij WPM. Hightemperature membrane reactors: potential and problems. Chem Eng Sci 1999;54:1997–2017.
- [331] Dubé MA, Tremblay AY, Liu J. Biodiesel production using a membrane reactor. Bioresor Technol 2007;93:639–47.
- [332] Cao P, Dube' MA, Tremblay AY. Methanol recycling in the production of biodiesel in a membrane reactor. Fuel 2008;87:825–33.
- [333] He HX, Guo X, Zhu SL. Comparison of membrane extraction with traditional extraction methods for biodiesel production. J Am Oil Chem Soc 2006;83:457–60.
- [334] Sdrula N. A study using classical or membrane separation in the biodiesel process. Desalination 2010;250:1070–2.
- [335] Riberio APB, Bei N, Goncalves LAG, Petrus JCC, Viotto LA. The optimisation of soybean oil degumming on a pilot plant scale using a ceramic membrane. J Food Eng 2008;87:514–21.

- [336] Kreis P, Gorak A. Process analysis of hybrid separation processes combination of distillation and pervaporation. Chem Eng Res Des 2006;84:595–600.
- [337] Shi W, He S, Ding J, Li J, Yan F, Liang X. Preparation and characterization of the organic-inorganic hybrid membrane for biodiesel production. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:1501–5.
- [338] Ochoa N, Pagliero C, Marchese J, Mattea M. Ultrafiltration of vegetable oils degumming by polymeric membranes. Sep Purif Technol 2001;22– 23:417–22.
- [339] Wang Y, Wang X, Liu Y, Ou S, Tan Y, Tang S. Refining of biodiesel by ceramic membrane separation. Fuel Process Technol 2009;90:422–7.
- [340] Gomes MCS, Pereira NC, de Barros STD. Separation of biodiesel and glycerol using ceramic membranes. J Membr Sci 2010;352:271–6.
- [341] Buchaly C, Kreis P, Gorak A. Hybrid separation processes—combination of reactive distillation with membrane separation. Chem Eng Process 2007;46:790–9.
- [342] Trajanek A, Bruckenstein S. Dual porous electrode membrane cell for detection of nonelectroactive species in flowing streams. Anal Chem 1987;59:2260–3.
- [343] Sa' S, Sousa JM, Mendes A. Methanol steam reforming in a dual-bed membrane reactor for producing PEMFC grade hydrogen. Catal Today 2010;156(3-4):254-60.
- [344] Newman PG, Rozycki GS. The history of ultrasound. Surg Clin North Am 1998;78(2):179–95.
- [345] Cintas P, Mantegna S, Gaudino EC, Cravotto G. A new pilot flow reactor for high-intensity ultrasound irradiation. Application to the synthesis of biodiesel. Ultrason Sonochem 2010;17:985–9.
- [346] Mason TJ, Paniwnyk L, Lorimer JP. The uses of ultrasound in food technology. Ultrason Sonochem 1996;3:253-60.
- [347] Mason TJ. Large scale sonochemical processing: aspiration and actuality. Ultrason Sonochem 2000;7(4):145–9.
- [348] Mason TJ. Sonochemistry. NewYork: Oxford University Press; 1999. p. 2–30. [349] Kumar D, Kumar G, Singh PCP. Fast, easy ethanolysis of coconut oil for
- biodiesel production assisted by ultrasonication. Ultrason Sonochem 2010;17:555–9. [350] Yu D, Tian L, Wu H, wang S, Wang Y, Na D, et al. Ultrasonic irradiation with
- (350) Yu D, Han L, Wu H, Wang S, Wang Y, Na D, et al. Ultrasonic irradiation with vibration for biodiesel production from soybean oil by Novozym 435. Process Biochem 2010;45:519–25.
- [351] Ji J, Wang J, Li Y, Yu Y, Xu Z. Preparation of biodiesel with the help of ultrasonic and hydrodynamic cavitation. Ultrasonics 2006;44:411-4.
- [352] Mikkola JP, Salmi T. Three-phase catalytic hydrogenation of xylose to xylitolprolonging the catalyst activity by means of on-line ultrasonic treatment. Catal Today 2001;64:271–7.
- [353] Stavarache C, Vinatoru M, Maeda Y. Ultrasonic versus silent methylation of vegetable oils. Ultrason Sonochem 2006;13(5):401-7.
- [354] Mootabadi H, Salamatinia B, Bhatia S, Abdullah AZ. Ultrasonic-assisted biodiesel production process from palm oil using alkaline earth metal oxides as the heterogeneous catalysts. Fuel 2010;89:1818–25.
- [355] Sinisterra JV. Application of ultrasound to biotechnology: an overview. Ultrasonics 1992;30(3):180-5.
- [356] Lin G, Liu H. Ultrasound promoted lipase catalyzed reactions. Tetrahedron Lett 1995;36(34):6067-8.
- [357] Salamatinia B, Mootabadi H, Bhatia S, Abdullah AZ. Optimization of ultrasonic-assisted heterogeneous biodiesel production from palm oil: a response surface methodology approach. Fuel Process Technol 2010;91:441-8.
- [358] Manh DV, Chen YH, Chang CC, Chang MC, Chang CY. Biodiesel production from Tung oil and blended oil via ultrasonic transesterification process. J Taiwan Inst Chem Eng 2011;42:640–4.
- [359] Stavarache C, Vinatoru M, Maeda Y. Aspects of ultrasonically assisted transesterification of various vegetable oils with methanol. Ultrason Sonochem 2007;14:380–6.
- [360] Singh AK, Fernando SD. Catalyzed fasttransesterification of soybean oil using ultrasonication. American Society of Agricultural Engineers, ASAE annual meeting, Portland, Oregon, USA, 2006; July 9–July 12, paper number 066220.
   [361] Stavarache C, Vinatoru M, Nishimura R, Maeda Y. Fatty acids methyl esters
- [361] Stavarache C, Vinatoru M, Nishimura R, Maeda Y. Fatty acids methyl esters from vegetable oil by means of ultrasonic energy. Ultrason Sonochem 2005;12(5):367–72.
- [362] Hanh HD, Dong NT, Starvarache C, Okitsu K, Maeda Y, Nishimura R. Methanolysis of triolein by low frequency ultrasonic irradiation. Energy Convers Manage 2008;49(2):276–80.
- [363] Kelkar MA, Gogate PR, Pandit AB. Intensification of esterification of acids for synthesis of biodiesel using acoustic and hydrodynamic cavitation. Ultrason Sonochem 2008;15(3):188–94.
- [364] Thanh LT, Kenji O, Yasuhiro S, Norimichi T, Yasuaki M, Hiroshi B. Ultrasonicassisted production fuel from vegetable oils in a small scale circulation process. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:639–45.
- [365] Varma RS. Solvent-free accelerated organic syntheses using microwaves. Pure Appl Chem 2001;73(1):193–8.
- [366] Refaat AA, El Sheltawy ST, Sadek KU. Optimum reaction time, performance and exhaust emissions of biodiesel produced by microwave irradiation. Int J Environ Sci Technol 2008;5(3):315–22.
- [367] Mazzocchia C, Modica G, Nannicini R, Kaddouri A. Fatty acid methyl esters synthesis from triglycerides over heterogeneous catalysts in the presence of microwaves. C R Chim 2004;7(6-7):601–5.
- [368] Motasemi F, Ani FN. The production of biodiesel from waste cooking oil using microwave irradiation. Jurnal Mekanikal 2011;32:61–72.

- [369] Patil PD, Gude VG, Camacho LM, Deng S. Microwave-assisted catalytic transesterification of Camelina Sativa oil. Energy Fuels 2010;24: 1298e304.
- [370] Motasemi F, Ani FN. A review on microwave-assisted production of biodiesel. Renew Sust Energy Rev 2012;16:4719–33.
   [371] Barnard TM, Leadbeater NE, Boucher MB, Stencel LM, Wilhite BA.
- [371] Barnard TM, Leadbeater NE, Boucher MB, Stencel LM, Wilhite BA. Continuous-flow preparation of biodiesel using microwave heating. Energy Fuels 2007;21:1777–81.
- [372] Yoni G, Aharon G. Continuous flow, circulating microwave system and its application in nanoparticle fabrication and biodiesel synthesis. J Phys Chem C 2008;112:8802–8.
- [373] Vyas AP, Verma JL, Subrahmanyam N. A review on FAME production processes. Fuel 2010;89:1–9.
- [374] Mazzocchia C, Modica G, Kaddauri A, Nannicini R. Fatty acid methyl ester synthesis from triglycerides over heterogeneous catalyst in the presence of microwave. C R Chim 2004;7:601–5.
- [375] Lertsathapornsuk V, Pairintra R, Aryusuk K, Krisnangkura K. Microwave assisted in continuous biodiesel production from waste frying palm oil and its performance in a 100 kW diesel generator. Fuel Process Technol 2008;89:1330–6.
- [376] Yaakob Z, Ong BH, Kumar MNS, Kamarudin SK. Microwave-assisted transesterification of Jatropha and waste frying palm oil. Int J Sust Energy 2009;28:195–201.
- [377] Chen KS, Lin YC, Hsu KH, Wang Hk. Improving biodiesel yield from waste cooking oil by using sodium methoxide and microwave heating system. Energy 2012;38:151–6.